



4.5

.

## **REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE**

第1日は東京市政府はなるお前に大市政府はなるのでは、本部市政府であったのであるのであります。

 Form Approved

REPORT D	REPORT DOCOMENTATION PAGE				
Public reporting burden for this collection of in gathering and maintaining the data needed, an collection of information, including suggestions Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 2220	formation is estimated to average 1 hour per d completing and reviewing the collection of i s for reducing this burden, to Washington Hea 24302, and to the Office of Management and	response, including the time for reinformation. Send comments regard dquarters Services, Directorate for Budget, Paperwork Reduction Proje	riewing Instructions, searching existini ding this burden estimate or any othe Information Operations and Reports, ct (0704-0 188), Washington, DC 20501	g data sources, r aspect of this 1215 Jefferson 3.	
1. AGENCY USE ONLY (Leave blar	كيببويها فأواله والمتراجية سيجب بمجموعه فسأتن المجبول والود	3. REPORT TYPE AND Special Report	ND DATES COVERED		
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE What We Know About Ar		5. FUNDING NUMBERS 63007 A792			
<b>6. AUTHOR(S)</b> Mady Wechsler Segal a		DAAL 03-86-D-0001 ICN 91-535 D.O. 2831 2302 C07			
7. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION N		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION			
Department of Sociolo University of Marylan College Park, MD 201		REPORT NUMBER			
9. SPONSORING/MONITORING AG U.S. Army Research In Behavioral and Social 5001 Eisenhower Avenu Alexandria, VA 22333	10. SPONSORING/MONITORING AGENCY REPORT NUMBER Special Report 21				
12a. DISTRIBUTION / AVAILABILITY	acting officer's repre STATEMENT release, distribution		126. DISTRIBUTION CODE		
13. ABSTRACT (Maximum 200 word	ds)				
Institute for the Bel ments outlined in the Army Family Action P documents and briefin and its constituent This report draws answer questions ofte important research f and readiness, family policy, program, and supervisors, unit con policy makers. The re- style, so that a dive and informative.	search Program (AFRP) havioral and Social So	iences in respon e Army's 1983 <u>Wh</u> produced over 1 ects of the relat c manuscripts, p milies. The auth ography, families unity support pr ons of the findin commanders, and scientifically a	se to research req <u>ite Paper</u> , and sub 00 scientific and ionship between th ors organize and h and retention, fa ograms. In additio gs are outlined fo Department of the ccurate but nontec e material underst	uire- sequent applied e Army AFRP, to dignlight milies n, the r Army hnical andable	
14. SUBJECT TERMS Military dependent Recruitment	Retention Family		<b>15. NUMBER OF</b> 104 <b>16. PRICE CODE</b> N/A	PAGES	
17. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF REPORT Unclassified	18. SICURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE Unclassified	19. SECURITY CLASSIFI OF ABSTRACT Unclassified		)F ABSTRACT	

NSN 7540-01-280-5500

منجها أهتدرك ويعجرون فسنوع فيحرب فسنبطغ أيتكر يستشر وينتك أخاص فالمحادي والمحا

and and a second s



The views, opinions, and/or findings contained in this report are those of the authors and should not be construed as an official Department of the Army Position, policy, or decision, unless so designated by other documentation.



2012

「日本」での作品が必要ななながらずな場合がない。 おおおから、おおから、「日本」では、「日本」

### WHAT WE KNOW ABOUT ARMY FAMILIES

Landard House of L

12 TATO?

R

Ż

. . .

•

1

CONTENTS Page
FOREWORD ix
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
WHO SHOULD READ THIS REPORT AND WHY
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
<ul> <li>Why do we need to know about Army families?</li> <li>What are the trends that have increased attention to military families in the past decade or two?</li> <li>What special concerns arise out of very recent events?</li> <li>What research is used for this report?</li> </ul>
CHAPTER 2: DEMOGRAPHICS OF ARMY FAMILIES
<ul> <li>What is the current demographic profile of the Army?</li> <li>How has this demographic portrait changed over time (in ways that are related to family issues)?</li> <li>What percent of personnel are married and how does this vary by rank?</li> <li>What is the representation of women?</li> <li>What is the employment status of spouses?</li> <li>What are the implications of demographic factors for retention, readiness, family adaptation, and community support programs?</li> </ul>
CHAPTER 3: ARMY FAMILIES AND PERSONNEL RETENTION
<ul> <li>What are the impacts of families and family issues on retention?</li> <li>What affects service member satisfaction with Army family life?</li> <li>What determines family satisfaction with the military way of life?</li> <li>What are the effects of spouse employment on satisfaction and retention?</li> <li>How do leadership practices affect retention?</li> </ul>

- From the research, what do we know about how to foster retention?

- How is individual readiness defined and measured?
- How is unit readiness defined and measured?
- What are the impacts of families and family issues on readiness?
- How does spouse employment affect readiness?
- How do leadership practices affect readiness?
- From the research, what do we know about how to foster readiness?

#### 

- Why should the military be concerned with family adaptation?
- What is considered good family adaptation to the Army?
- What accommodations must the Army make to assure that families adapt to the stresses of deployments like Operations Desert Shield/Storm?

- Is there a relationship between family adaptation to the Army and spouse labor force participation?

- Who are the vulnerable populations?

- What is the relationship between family adaptation and relocation?
- What is the relationship between family adaptation and separation?

#### 

- Which community support programs are used most frequently by soldiers and spouses?

- Which programs and services do soldiers and spouses perceive as most useful for the Army to provide?

- Are soldiers and their families who are most in need of community support using programs that are targeted towards their needs?

- What we soldier and spouse perceptions of the quality of Army programs and services?

- What are the relationships between use of community support programs and family adaptation and retention?

CHAPTER 7: CONTINUING ISSUES	• •	 - , • • • •	•••••	53
REFERENCES	• • •	 •••••		55
APPENDIX: FIGURES		 		63

### LIST OF FIGURES

1-1. Army-Family System Model
2-1. Percentage of Enlisted Personnel Married: Various Data Sources, 1952-1991
2-2. Percentage of Officers Married: Various Data Sources, 1952-1991
2-3. Percentage of Army Personnel Married by Gender and Pay Grade, 1991
2-4. Percentage of Soldiers in Dual Military Marriages, 1974-1991
2-5. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: Policies, Programs, and Practices Related to Soldier Demographics
2-6. For Installation Commanders and DA Policy Makers: How to Develop Policies, Programs, and Practices Related to Soldier Demographics
3-1. Model of Retention
3-2. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers
3-3. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers
4-1. Individual Readiness Ratings Items
4-2. Model of Individual Readiness
4-3. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness
4-4. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness
4-5. Measures of Unit Readiness

4-6. Model of Unit Readiness
4-7. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Unit Readiness
4-8. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: Policies to Increase Unit Readiness
5-1. Relationship Between Relocation Problems and Family Adaptation
5-2. "Overnight" Separation Activity in Past 6 Months
5-3. Model of Family Adaptation
5-4. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army
5-5. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makors How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army
6-1. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Community Support
6-2. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Community Support

14, 77, 920

all and an in the stand of the

AND STREET, AND STREET, AND STREET, AND STREET, STREET

### FOREWORD

The U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences (ARI) conducted the Army Family Research Program (AFRP) in response to requirements outlined in the 1983 <u>White</u> <u>Paper</u> by the Chief of Staff for the Army and in subsequent Army Family Action Plans. The AFRP, sponsored by the U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center (CFSC), explored the demographic characteristics of Army families, family impacts on soldier readiness and retention, adaptation of families to Army life, and families' sense of community and partnership.

AFRP results have been used by the Army staff to help resolve important family and single soldier issues identified in the Army Family Action Plan, and to modify existing Army family policies and programs.

What we discovered about Army families appears in a multitude of ARI reports, journal articles, professional presentations, and briefings. Each of these research reports examined portions of the complex relationship between the Army and its constituent families. This special report provides an integration of this sizable body of research, and supplements it with research conducted by other military and civilian agencies on Army Families. The report is written in a scientifically accurate but nontechnical style, and includes recommendations for family policies, programs, and practices for supervisors, commanders, and policy makers. Our objective is to reach the diverse audience of readers concerned with Army families

EDGAR M. JOHNSON Director

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report has been made possible by the efforts of many people, including the researchers whose work we synthesize and from which we develop recommendations. We are grateful for the guidance, support, and constructive critique we have received throughout this project from scientists at the Army Research Institute, including D. Bruce Bell, Jacqueyn Scarville, Paul Gade, and Laurel Oliver. We especially appreciate Dr. Bell's commitment, understanding, and excellent ideas as the ARI COTR; he was a partner in this endeavor.

Morten G. Ender worked creatively and diligently to prepare all the figures in the report. Geraldine Todd provided superb clerical and computer work. Carolyn Eddy served as a research assistant. We appreciate their willingness to work on weekends and holidays, often without much advance notice.

Most importantly, the authors and the Army Research Institute thank the thousands of soldiers and spouses who participated in the Army Family Research Program. Their willingness to complete lengthy questionnaires and participate in individual interviews and group discussions is evidence of the partnership between families and the Department of the Army.

Jesse J. Harris is the primary author of Chapters 5 and 6. Mady Wechsler Segal is the primary author of the rest of the report.

fallen an in the state of a proof of a state of a state of the state o

## WHAT WE KNOW ABOUT ARMY FAMILIES

### WHO SHOULD READ THIS REPORT AND WHY

This report draws on research to answer questions that are often asked about Army families. While social scientists might find this report useful as a way to tap into the research, they are not the primary audience for this report. Rather, we aim to provide information that is useful to the broad community of military and civilian personnel interested in Army families, including leaders at all levels.

We organize and highlight important research findings and provide recommendations for policies, programs, and practices derived directly from these findings. These recommendations are divided into those for SUPERVISORS AND UNIT COMMANDERS and those for INSTALLATION COMMANDERS AND POLICY MAKERS IN THE DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY. Implementation of these policies, programs, and practices should result in greater family adaptation to the Army, increased retention of personnel (especially those who are the best performers), and improved mission readiness.

There is no executive summary in this report because the entire report may be viewed as an executive summary for Army leaders of some of the research reports prepared in the past 10 years, especially those produced as part of the Army Family Research Program of the U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. These reports fill an entire filing cabinet.

Here are a few examples of findings reported here:

Single parenthood is not a permanent status.

- Much research demonstrates the importance of family issues in personnel retention.
- Spouse support for a soldier staying in the Army affects retention intentions and behavior.
- A single soldier's perception of his/her partner's support for the soldier making a career in the Army has a strong positive effect on the soldier's retention intention.

• Retention is negatively related to separations from family due to duty requirements.

• Individual readiness is affected by some family characteristics (even after accounting for the effects of personal and job-related factors), including the soldier's perception of the degree to which his/her supervisor shows support for soldiers' families.

- Other family characteristics often assumed to affect individual readiness do not have such effects.
- The variable with the <u>strongest</u> impact on unit readiness is soldier perceptions of the amount of support the unit leaders give soldiers and their families.
- Having a family support group has a positive direct effect on unit readiness.
- The ability of the family to adapt to the military way of life is related to the degree to which the military provides formal and informal supports to the family.
- There is a significant relationship between relocation problems experienced and overall family adaptation to the Army.

• The effectiveness of family support groups appears to vary as a result of certain conditions of their environment and functioning.

• Soldiers who use family programs report higher perceptions of leader support for families than soldiers who do not use the programs.

• Army spouse employment programs positively affect spouse labor force participation.

Some recommendations for supervisors and unit commanders are:

- To increase retention of soldiers, create soldier perceptions that you care about families.
- To increase soldiers' readiness, be willing to listen when a soldier has a family problem.
- To increase unit readiness, provide activities in your unit for families.

• To facilitate family adaptation to the Army, institute formal and informal support mechanisms to reduce the stress of separations.

• To increase community support, assure troop awareness of post support services.

A few of the recommendations for installation commanders and policy makers are:

- Ensure that supervisors at all levels are familiar with the recommendations in this report.
- Avoid policies that treat soldiers primarily according to their demographic characteristics.

• To increase soldier retention, provide soldiers with work rewards and excellent quality of life programs (spouse employment, child care, community support).

• To increase soldiers' readiness, evaluate unit leaders and supervisors at least partly on the basis of their success in meeting soldier and family needs.

• To increase unit readiness, provide housing on post for those who desire it.

- To facilitate family adaptation to the Army, minimize separation and relocation.
- To increase community support, provide family member employment assistance programs.

At the front of each chapter (and in the Contents) you will find a list of some of the questions addressed by the chapter. If those questions interest you, read the chapter and examine the figures. Of course, we hope you will find all of the questions important enough to read the entire report.

### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

# ""The trend to a large standing Army has meant that there are now large numbers of service members and family members."

- Why do we need to know about Army families?
- What are the trends that have increased attention to military families in the past decade or two?
- What special concerns arise out of very recent events?
- What research is used for this report?

The Army way of life has led to special concerns about soldiers' families and to policy actions to assure a decent quality of life. These concerns and ameliorative actions arise from the Army's moral and social responsibilities; they also contribute to mission readiness and personnel retention. In the best of times, policy makers need information on which to base personnel decisions. In an era of constrained resources and organizational restructuring, it is even more important to have good empirical data on which to base policy and program priorities.

General trends in the Armed Forces and in society have increased military families' impacts and necessitated research and policy attention. In the early 1980s, when the Army began systematic attempts at policy formulation to address the tensions and problems resulting from these trends, there was a lack of relevant theory and research data on which to base action. The past 10-15 years have witnessed an enormous increase in the amount of research and writing about military families. The accumulated knowledge from this research can be used to inform leaders, develop policy, design programs, and facilitate everyday personnel practices in the Army.

The purpose of this report is to provide planners and others with needed information about Army family characteristics, the effects of families on mission readiness and soldier retention, family adaptation to organizational stressors, and the effects of community support programs. This goal is achieved by presenting a systematic review and synthesis of research, primarily that conducted as part of the Army Family Research Program (AFRP) supported by the Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences (ARI). Some research performed by the Walter Reed Army Institute of Research (WRAIR), the RAND Corporation, and the U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center (CFSC) is also included. This report summarizes research results and cites reports and publications that serve as examples of sources, rather than providing an exhaustive literature review and synthesis. (The list of references at the end of this report includes only those explicitly cited here; more complete lists of research reports may be obtained from the performing organizations.) Particular emphasis is given to findings that have implications for policies, programs, and practices.

'The relationships among family characteristics, their determinants, and their outcomes are complex. Figure 1-1 shows a conceptual schema that is useful for understanding how specific findings fit in the system of relationships. Represented in the figure are several categories of important variables and <u>some</u> of the relationships among variables in these categories. On the left of the figure are general characteristics of the military and of U.S. social structure and



culture. The boxes in the middle column depict aspects of Army family structure and culture (including family adaptation). The two military outcomes of retention and readiness appear in the boxes on the right. The oval in the center of the diagram represents Army policies, programs, and practices that affect the system's dynamics and which are the focus of recommendations derived from research. In other chapters of this report, as research results focus on particular variables and their relationships, this model can be used to place those findings within the larger system. The next section summarizes some of the dynamics of these relationships, with emphasis on military and social trends affecting Army families.

### Trends Affecting Importance of Family Issues

In the past several decades, various trends have combined to increase attention to military families. One that started after World War II is that the Army has moved to a large standing peacetime force. Unlike the mobilization model of military personnel followed in the early part of this century, we maintain a force containing large numbers of uniformed personnel.

The trend to a large standing force has meant that there are now large numbers of service members and family members. There has been a concomitant loss of sense of community (which is parallelled in civilian neighborhoods). The demands of the military life style, such as frequent relocation and separation, coupled with the size of the military community, has created the need to provide formal support services to fulfill various functions. While recent changes in

a film to see the

and the second second states and the second s

the world situation and the nature of perceived military threat have led to preoccupation with downsizing the U.S. Armed Forces, we must not lose sight of the fact that the streamlined force will still be much larger than active duty peacetime forces of earlier eras.

Military technology requires high levels of technical training. This has various implications for military personnel, including greater emphasis on retention of trained and experienced personnel. The longer people are retained in the military, the greater the proportion of married service members. Retention of these older, experienced soldiers requires that they be satisfied with Army family life.

Readiness is also affected by family adaptation and family satisfaction with treatment by the Army. Soldiers who are worried about their families because the family is having difficulty and/or whose families are dissatisfied with life in the Army will not perform well on the job. While family problems can always diminish readiness, in deployment situations, soldiers distracted by concerns about families back home can increase risks of injury and death.

Societal changes in family patterns and gender roles have affected military families in profound ways. Most civilian and military wives no longer derive their identities solely from their husbands. Men and women expect their marriages to be more egalitarian and companionate than those of their parents' generation. Women, including those with minor children, are in the labor force in unprecedented proportions. This increased employment is due not only to gender role changes, but also to greater quality of life aspirations and an economy that requires two incomes to meet expectations. Higher divorce rates and changed standards of sexual behavior have led to increased numbers of single parent families.

The changes in the culture and the structure of American families generally have created many changes in the nature of military family life. The demography of military families has changed, with more women, more dual military couples, and more sole parents. The majority of civilian wives of military men are in the labor force.

#### Military Family Life

and the second state of th

Against the backdrop of these trends is the constellation of characteristics of the military lifestyle. While other occupations share some of these characteristics, the Armed Forces are nearly unique in the combination of demands they place on their service members and their families. These aspects of Army life include the risk of injury and death, frequent geographic relocation, family separations, long duty hours and shift work, unpredictability of work hours, residence in foreign countries, and sometimes isolation from the civilian society. The military environment is characterized by masculine norms which place high value on efficiency, hierarchy, dominance, power, and control of emotions. These norms are not always compatible with family life.

Special concerns arise out of recent events. The experiences of Operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm have heightened awareness of family issues. Media attention during these operations made the American public aware of the changes in military families. The small minority of service members who resisted deployment due to family responsibilities or who deployed leaving unsupervised children raised family policy questions and produced a great fury of activity and legislation. These concerns also focussed attention within the Army on the need for realistic family care plans, as well as for developing policy to deal with the logistics of arranging for families in the event of deployment of large numbers of soldiers.

The downsizing of the Army has increased the need for information on how to retain high-quality personnel and minimize family distress. We are on uncharted ground with the largest-ever peacetime contraction of military forces recruited as volunteers. Many of these service members had hoped for a career but are now being forced (or enticed) out of service. All these changes have ied to the need to know more about how family members relate to the Army and to each other. Recommendations for development of policies, programs, and practices need to be based on in-depth information about the needs of Army personnel and their families.

### Attention to Military Families

Before the 1960s there was very little research and policy attention to military families. The 1960s saw the beginning of the provision of formal organizational supports to families with the establishment of Army Community Service. During the past two decades, there has been an enormous increase in research and policy attention to military families. Among the activities in the Army that demonstrate the rise in attention to families in the 1980s are the series of Army Family Symposia, the Army Family White Paper, and the Army Family Action Plans.

Many family programs and services have been developed at various levels in the Army. Formal support services offered by installations include childcare centers, spouse employment programs, relocation information and sponsorship, emergency loans, budget counseling, family counseling, training for parenthood, and workshops on coping with separation and reunion, to name just a few.

Systematic attention to family issues at the unit level is evident in such initiatives as the appointment of rear detachment officers during deployments, activities for families sponsored by units, unit family newsletters, and family support groups.

The burgeoning of all of these programs and practices began taking place before systematic and large-scale efforts at research to identify family needs and to evaluate the programs and practices. Earlier studies tended to be on small, unrepresentative samples. Many were based on clinical populations of service members and their families seeking mental health treatment.

The amount of research on military families grew exponentially during the 1980s and into the 1990s. The more recent research has included small, in-depth, and systematic qualitative investigations as well as complementary surveys of large numbers of service members and their spouses.

The reports from all of this research can fill a library. This report is one attempt at providing a brief overview of some of the findings of the research. It is <u>not</u> intended to be exhaustive nor is it written primarily for researchers. Researchers interested in the technical aspects of the research should go directly to the technical reports cited here. Readers interested in a more comprehensive review of research on military families should consult other sources, including other Army research agencies and the Military Family Resource Center. The goal here is to call special attention to findings with special policy relevance. We provide some recommendations of policies, programs, and practices that the research tells us can be especially beneficial to the Army and the families of its personnel.

The recommendations are divided into two categories according to the organizational level for their implementation. Some are policies or programs that require action by installation commanders and/or the Department of the Army. Others are practices at the unit or supervisory level that research shows have positive outcomes. The significant demonstrated value of these

الم محمد المحمد الم المحمد leadership behaviors calls for their being included in the training of Army leaders at all levels. Leaders should know these good practices, perform them routinely, and encourage the same behaviors in their subordinates who supervise others. Supervisors who exhibit these behaviors should be recognized and rewarded by higher level unit commanders.

The outcomes that concern us are family adaptation, mission readiness, and the retention of high performing soldiers. The research shows that quality of life issues for soldiers and their families, such as soldier satisfaction with various aspects of work and family life in the Army and spouse satisfaction with Army life (and employment opportunities), affect these outcomes.

### The Army Family Research Program (AFRP)

The research conducted as part of ARI's AFRP used multiple methodologies, including systematic and exhaustive literature reviews, focus group interviews, analysis of service records, ratings of unit readiness, and supervisory ratings of individual soldiers. But the largest effort, and the cornerstone of much of the analysis, was a survey of individual soldiers and the spouses of married soldiers in the sample.

The sample was selected using a three-stage hierarchical sample design, with geographical areas sampled first, then operational Army units, and then soldiers (and the spouses of married sample soldiers).<sup>27</sup> Sampled soldiers represent all service members of ranks private and above, living within 50 miles of the post, and in units with at least 20 people. Usable questionnaires were completed in 1989 by 11,035 soldiers and 3,277 spouses from 528 units in 34 geographical locations.

The group-administered soldier questionnaire covered such topics as educational and family background, reasons for joining the Army, perceptions of the Army unit's leaders and readiness, comparisons of Army and civilian life, job satisfaction, perceptions of work and family responsibilities, attitudes of friends and family toward the soldier remaining in the Army, retention intentions, spouse's employment preferences and experiences, family composition, childcare arrangements, relocation experiences, and ratings of usefulness of Army programs and services.

The spouse self-administered questionnaire included the following topics: educational and military service background, employment, relocation and separation experiences, attitudes toward the Army and toward soldiers staying in the Army, gender role attitudes, perceptions of soldiers' current duty assignment and leaders' behaviors, comparison: of Army and civilian life, marital satisfaction, childcare arrangements, and ratings of usefulness of Army programs and services.

These surveys, together with the other information collected, much of which can be specifically matched to survey respondents (such as ratings of soldier performance), provide a wealth of data on a large-scale, systematic sample of Army personnel and their families.



### **CHAPTER 2: DEMOGRAPHICS OF ARMY FAMILIES**

# "Unlike the bachelor armies of yesteryear, today's personnel are likely to be married."

- What is the current demographic profile of the Army?
- How has this demographic portrait changed over time (in ways that are related to family issues)?
- What percentage of personnel are married and how does this vary by rank?
- What is the representation of women?
- What is the employment status of spouses?
- What are the implications of demographic factors for retention, readiness, family adaptation, and community support programs?

The ability to plan for meeting the needs of Army personnel and their families requires information about the distribution of personnel on certain "demographic" characteristics. This chapter summarizes some of the available data.

Researchers have noted that "there are relatively few sources of completely accurate demographic information."<sup>55</sup> However, combining the 1989 AFRP survey with other data sources produces a clear picture of the distribution of Army personnel on characteristics important for family issues. For some characteristics, there is no one precise number available, so a range should be used. This chapter highlights only certain aspects of the picture. It also identifies factors that have led to the demographics in order to understand the changes that are likely in the future.

### The Married Nature of the Force

Unlike the bachelor armies of yesteryear, today's personnel are likely to be married. Among both enlisted personnel and officers, the higher the rank, the greater the percentage who are married. While most enlisted personnel are not married when they enter service, by the time they reach the rank of sergeant, most are married. This same relationship between rank and marital status was true over 20 years ago. What has changed over time is the composition of the enlisted force, with more career soldiers and fewer first-termers than in the past. The impact of this can be seen in Figure 2-1, which shows data over time (from several sources) on the percentage of enlisted personnel who are married; similar data for officers are shown in Figure 2-2.

A main reason for the increase in the proportion of married personnel has been the emphasis on retention of enlisted personnel beyond the first term. The longer people stay in the Army, the older they are and the more likely they are to be married and have children. (Figure 2-3).

It is likely that the military force of the near future will continue to consist primarily of married soldiers. Unless there is a sharp shift away from retention of soldiers beyond the first term and



のないないというないない

The set of the set





### Figure 2-3. Percentage of Army Personnel Married by Gender and Pay Grade

an emphasis instead on increasing proportions of junior enlisted personnel, such a turnaround is unlikely.

Concerns are sometimes expressed about the purportedly increasing numbers of young married service members and their quality of life and readiness. Reliable trend data are not available and junior enlisted personnel are often underrepresented in surveys. Approximately 2% - 3% of carrently married enlisted soldiers are under the age of 20.55 While this figure is small, these soldiers and their spouses tend to have fewer resources (financial, personal, and social) than older service couples and therefore may require more support from the Army to adapt to military stressors (Chapter 5).

Obviously, the greater the percentage of Army personnel who are married, the greater is the need for policies, programs, and practices to be responsive to family needs -- and the larger the number of people who are served by family programs.

### Increasing Representation of Women

The combination of shortages of high-quality male recruits at the outset of the all-volunteer force and changing roles for women in civilian society led to increased numbers of women soldiers. In 1972 fewer than 2% of Army soldiers were women; by 1992 this figure had climbed to about 12%.

In general, family roles have been more central for women and families have been "greedier" for women than for men (in the sense that sacrifices for families were more likely to be expected and considered legitimate). However, social norms are changing in this regard and it is now

common for women to balance work and family roles. Given the greedy nature of military service with its great control over soldiers' lives,  ${}^{60,61}$  it is not surprising to find that women in the Army are less likely to be married and to have children than their male peers (Figure 2-3).<sup>55</sup>

While women soldiers are more likely to get married with increasing rank, women in the three highest enlisted grades are less likely to be married than more junior enlisted women (Figure 2-3). It remains to be seen whether this pattern will continue as women advance in rank who entered service during the time when Army policies were more supportive of families in general and of women in particular. (It was not until the 1970s that policies changed to allow women to remain in service when they became pregnant or to receive dependents' benefits for family members on the same basis as male soldiers.)

The future for women's representation in the Army is uncertain because of force reductions and shifting policies regarding their eligibility for combat positions. As the force is reduced in size, one of the main thrusts for the increased recruitment of women is weakened. However, the social and cultural changes that have led to greater acceptance of military women continue. Further, the demonstrated contributions of women in Operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm as well as public attention to their sacrifices in participating, reduce the political influence of interest groups seeking to revert to the more exclusionary policies of the past. The most likely trend is for women's percentage to remain about the same or to increase slowly.

### Single Parents in the Army

The number of single parents in the Army surely has increased over the past twenty years, though it is difficult to obtain accurate estimates for earlier years. The increase indirectly results from rising divorce rates and increased acceptance of out-of-wedlock births in the U.S., and, more directly, results from policy changes allowing unmarried service members with minor children to remain in service.

Single parenthood is difficult to measure and has at least two major meanings. One is the situation in which a currently unmarried person has custody of at least one minor child (custodial definition). The other is the situation in which the person has financial responsibility for the child as a dependent (legal definition), but the child is living with someone else. The two situations have different implications for Army family issues (such as family adaptation, community support, and readiness), as well as different distributions in the Army generally and different relationships to rank, gender, etc.

As with other demographic characteristics, different data sources produce different figures. The AFRP survey finds 4.4% of Army personnel are single parents by the legal definition, while 2.3% are custodial single parents.<sup>(55)</sup> Most data sources show that the majority of single parents (using either definition) in the Army are men. However, women are proportionally more likely than men to have custody of their children and the AFRP survey finds that 57% of the custodial single parents are women.

Possibly the most important result of the AFRP research regarding single parenthood is the finding that this is not a permanent status. There are service members who have been single parents in the past who are not currently single parents because they have subsequently married; 6.2% of soldiers have been single parents at some time (compared to 2.3% currently). This figure is higher for more senior people. This finding has obvious implications for policies

affecting the retention of single parents. . . e proportion of current soldiers who would be lost if single parents had been forcibly discharged is nearly three times the proportion who are currently single parents. This, among other findings (such as those showing that single parenthood is not a good predictor of individual readiness), argues against treating single parents according to this status alone.

### **Dual Military Couples**

The increase in the number of dual military couples (where both husband and wife are in the armed forces) is a direct result of the increase in the number of women in the military. Data for the years 1989 to 1991 show approximately 7 to 10% of all soldiers are in dual military marriages. The percentage of dual military marriages can be calculated in several ways and the method affects the precise figure.<sup>55</sup> Figure 2-4 shows the trends in dual military marriages in the Army over time (as determined from multiple data sources using different calculation methods).

#### Spouse Employment

A demographic trend with profound impacts on Army family life is the rise in the percentage of spouses who are in the labor force. This figures has increased from about 27% in 1972 to between 60% and 70% in 1992. The reasons for this trend can be found in the social and cultural changes in U.S. society generally. (See Chapter 5 for more discussion of this trend and its implications.)

### Single Soldiers

Attention to families often focusses only on service members with spouses and/or children and ignores single soldiers' family concerns. Research shows that many soldiers who have never



արց հետրում է ունեները էր են ունեները արդել էլու հետերարգության էին արդելել է ուրել է որոնել էր հետերան էր էլ է Համերկ հանձերեն հատերելու ունեներում էն հետո been married have personal relationships that influence their lives and affect their attitudes and behavior, such as their job performance and intentions to remain in the Army.<sup>37</sup>

#### Implications of Demographic Trends

Some of the implications of demographic trends in Army families are obvious. Others are not so clear, and empirical results often fail to confirm stereotypes and expectations. Throughout the rest of this report, attention is paid to the effects of many of these characteristics and trends. These are not repeated here. A few findings deserve attention here.

The effects of demographic variables on retention, readiness, and family adaptation are covered later in the relevant chapters of this report. In general, soldiers' demographic characteristics (such as gender, race, and marital and parental status) do not predict behavior as well as do their other characteristics (such as age, rank, and education). It would be a mistake to assume that all soldiers in a demographic category (such as women, single parents, dual military couples, or service members with employed spouses) share similar behaviors and performance and to develop policies that treat them all alike.

While policies, programs, and practices should be responsive to potential family needs in order to improve family adaptation and soldier retention, and readiness, many potential personnel policies based solely on demographic status would be ill-advised. For example, a policy of discharging all single parents (which could be opposed on other grounds as well) would result in greater personnel losses than is apparent; research demonstrates that single parenthood is often a temporary status, and many more service members have been in this status in the past than currently are.

Figures 2-5 and 2-6 show some of the recommendations for policies, programs, and practices that can be derived from the research results.





## CHAPTER 3: ARMY FAMILIES AND PERSONNEL RETENTION

"Much research...demonstrates clearly the importance of family issues in the retention of Army personnel..."

- What are the impacts of families and family issues on retention?
- What affects service member satisfaction with Army family life?
- What determines family satisfaction with the military way of life?
- What are the effects of spouse employment on satisfaction and retention?
- How do leadership practices affect retention?
- From the research, what do we know about how to foster retention?

#### Importance of Retention

Several trends in the military have led to an increased emphasis on rotention of career personnel. Rather than having a force consisting primarily of junior enlisted personnel who remain for one tour of duty, the Army has been moving to a career force. While the end of conscription is partially responsible for this trend, so is the increase in technological training required to perform military jobs. The time and cost involved in bringing people to levels of proficiency mean that the services must retain these trained personnel for long enough to realize a return on the investment. The longer people remain, the more likely they are to be married.

The current process of military downsizing has deflected attention away from retention. There may be a tendency for some policy makers in this era of organizational contraction to regard attention to families as less necessary now. But this view is a shortsighted one. There is still a great need to retain qualified personnel. In fact, given the variety of missions that the Army may be called on to perform, there is an even greater need during this period to retain the most able people - especially those with the capability to learn new jobs as their units must respond flexibly to changing mission requirements. Further, the need in the future to accomplish organizational missions with fewer people necessitates policies and programs that assure the continued retention of this downsized career force.

#### Impact of Family on Retention

There is much research, both qualitative and quan<sup>4</sup>itative, that demonstrates clearly the importance of family issues in the retention of Army personnel, including those who are considered the most able. The most recent research of the AFRP complements and supports findings from earlier studies. While some of the research uses retention intentions and other studies measure actual retention behavior, the two measures are strongly related and, in general, the same factors are demonstrated to affect retention. Summaries of findings are contained in several reviews of research.<sup>20,35</sup> 'There is remarkable consistency in findings about how family characteristics and spouse attitudes affect retention.

Figure 3-1 displays a model of the variables that affect retention. This figure is derived from the empirical research of the AFRP (which is consistent with earlier research). For simplicity, the figure does not display all of the likely causal relationships.

Most soldiers are single when they join the Army. However, most marry within a few years of entry. In general, married soldiers are more committed to an Army career than single soldiers (especially for males).<sup>24,44</sup> Having children increases retention of male soldiers, but decreases retention of female soldiers. This greater retention of men when they are married and have children is <u>not</u> just due to their being in service longer because this finding holds within years of service and rank categories. For both married and unmarried soldiers, their perceptions of the compatibility of Army and family life affects their intentions to remain for a full career.

As soldiers proceed through their Army careers, job security and retirement benefits become increasingly important in their retention decisions. The negative effects of low levels of personal freedom and the interference of Army work requirements with family activities are tolerated because of the job security provided by the military career and the desire to stay in long enough to be eligible for retirement benefits.<sup>10</sup>

The current downsizing environment has meant a loss of job security and uncertainty regarding continued retirement benefits. Attention must be paid to providing alternative sources of commitment to a military career for future service members. Further, special actions may be required to retain high-performing and experienced personnel who are currently remaining in service, once these people reach eligibility for retirement benefits. Research findings can identify other factors affecting retention that are amenable to policy intervention.



A consistent and strong finding (at least for male soldiers married to civilian women) is that the degree of spouse support for a soldier staying in the Army affects retention intentions and behavior. As some AFRP researchers emphasize in their conclusions, "the Army spouse and family are extremely powerful influencing factors in the intention of the soldier to remain for a full career. This study very clearly demonstrates the strong influence Army spouses have on the goals, attitudes and career intentions of soldiers and officers."<sup>24</sup>

There is a reciprocal relationship between soldier attitudes about the Army and spouse attitudes; that is, when service members are happy with their work and satisfied with Army life, their spouses are more likely to be positively disposed to the soldier staying in the Army.<sup>35</sup> However, it is clear that spouse attitudes have an impact on soldier attitudes and behavior above and beyond the soldiers' initial attitudes. There is even evidence that the spouse's attitude sometimes has more influence on the soldier's actual reenlistment behavior than the soldier's own predilection<sup>6,34</sup> and that a wife's attitude toward her husband's Army unit sometimes affects his subsequent morale more than his morale affects her subsequent attitude.<sup>47</sup>

An innovative AFRP project focuses on the boyfriend and girlfriend relationships of young single soldiers and the impact of these relationships on several outcomes, including retention intentions.<sup>37</sup> The report also provides comparisons with married soldiers. Never-married (and non-parent) soldiers under 30 years of age are categorized into three groups: "independents" (those with no relationships), "involved" (those with relationships but with little or no discussion of marriage plans), and "committed" (those with relationships and frequent discussion of marriage).

The association between relationship status and retention differs by the soldier's race and gender. For example, for men, the greater the commitment to the relationship, the higher the probability of retention. For women, independents are most likely to intend to remain in the Army; once they have a relationship, the greater the commitment, the higher the likelihood of retention. The most important finding of all is that a single soldier's perception of his/her partner's support for the soldier making a career in the Army has a strong positive effect on the soldier's retention. This effect is similar to the effect of spouse support on retention of married soldiers.

An interesting research finding is that there is a gender dimercience in the factors affecting retention of married Air Force personnel. Family variables such as spouse support for a military career affect the retention of married male service members more than married female service members.<sup>43</sup> Social support from their military peers (in the form of having people to confide in) seems to be more important for the retention of military women.

Given the importance of wives' support to male soldiers' retention, it is important to understand what affects this support. The major reasons given by spouses themselves for such support are service member's satisfaction with his or her job, the security of the job, and retirement benefits.<sup>25</sup> This finding, like its counterpart for service members' own attitudes, presages retention difficulties in the future as the current downsizing makes service members and their spouses acutely aware of loss of job security.

Other factors are positively associated with spouse support, including the presence of children, especially if the military is perceived as a good place to raise children.<sup>20,25</sup> Spouses' support for retention is also strongly affected by the dagree to which they perceive that military leaders care about families.<sup>25</sup> This may be an area that is amenable to action at all

organizational levels, especially when other aspects of the job and career are becoming less attractive (such as the loss of job security).

The degree to which soldiers find rewards in their work has a direct effect on their retention.<sup>24</sup> Included in the measurement of work rewards are soldier ratings of the following: opportunities for advancement, pay, retirement benefits, type of work, treatment by supervisors, opportunities to use abilities, job security, work rules and regulations, opportunity for excitement/adventure, and opportunity to serve the country.

As we shall see in Chapter 4, the degree to which soldiers perceive that their leaders support them and their families contributes positively to readiness. Indeed, soldiers who perceive such support are actually given higher ratings of readiness than those who see their leaders as less supportive. Thus, the research shows that the same behaviors by leaders that contribute to retention of personnel also contribute to readiness.

Spouse employment experiences also affect retention decisions, but the relationship is not a simple direct one. Spouse employment is related to spouse satisfaction with the Army.<sup>35,72</sup> Unemployment is clearly associated with spouse dissatisfaction and service members' intent to leave service.<sup>72</sup> In general, it is not whether a spouse is employed or not that is likely to affect support for soldier retention. Rather, what is important is the extent to which the spouse's employment outcomes (whether employed, type of work, pay, etc.) meet his/her expectations.<sup>53</sup>

There is strong evidence that reenlistment decisions should be viewed as being made within the context of the family or household, rather than the individual. Spouse employment figures prominently in such an approach, called the family Annualized Cost of Leaving (ACOL) model.<sup>26</sup> Research using this model shows that a permanent change of station (PCS) move during a year costs a civilian employed spouse on average 10 weeks of work. The family ACOL research suggests that reducing the frequency of PCS moves by increasing the average tour length by 12 months would increase spouse wages by an average of 6% and increase the probability of reenlistment by about 3%.<sup>26</sup>

Spouse employment circumstances are quite different among the spouses of different categories of personnel. Among wives of junior enlisted men, there is a relatively high proportion who want to work but cannot get a job. (This is true of those couples both with and without children.) Among junior officers, the vast majority of wives without children are employed and relatively few without jobs want employment. While fewer junior officers' wives with children than those without children are employed, a larger proportion of mothers (than non-mothers) without jobs actually want to be employed.<sup>24</sup>

It is clear from much research that the satisfaction of spouse employment desires will play an even greater role in future retention of service members. Like their peers married to civilians, the proportion of Army spouses who desire to be employed has been increasing. Unemployment and underemployment of spouses will result in service members leaving service.

Changes in Army missions and structures in the 1990s are likely to affect spouse employment and spouse satisfaction with the military. Since frequent relocation interferes with spouse employment and career progression, the expected greater geog. aphic stability of Army personnel and their families has the potential for improving spouse employment outcomes. However, the research indicates that effects are likely to vary as a function of the characteristics of the location to which personnel are assigned (Chapter 5). Those soldiers in areas of high employment opportunity for their spouses may be satisfied and retained, whereas those "stuck" in areas with limited spouse employment opportunities may be dissatisfied and want to leave the Army.

### Army Life Experience and Retention

Retention is negatively related to separations from family due to duty requirements because service members not accompanied by their spouses are less likely to intend to remain in the Army.<sup>72</sup> Research also demonstrates that, for the spouses of junior soldiers (both officer and enlisted), there is a relationship between how well they feel they handled their last extended separation and their support for an Army career.<sup>16</sup> Thus, retention of junior enlisted personnel and junior officers can be enhanced by reducing the number of extended separations and by helping to ensure a spouse's successful separation experience.

Retention intention is positively related to service members' perceptions of the quality of Army community life (including ratings of its quality as a place for children to grow up, quality of medical care for family members, programs and services for families, quality of community, and opportunity to make good friends).<sup>(24)</sup> There is also an association between retention and the use of services<sup>(19)</sup> (although this finding does not account for the effects of respondent's rank).

Retention intention is also strongly positively associated with sense of personal time and freedom (measured with items covering working hours and schedule, personal freedom, and time for personal/family life).<sup>(24)</sup>

Soldiers who rate their Army jobs high in comparison to civilian jobs are more likely to intend to remain in the Army than those who view civilian jobs more favorably.<sup>(24)</sup>

Some of the factors that affect retention of high-performing soldiers are different from those that affect retention of soldiers rated lower by their supervisors.<sup>45</sup> High-performing soldiers are most likely to intend to remain in service when they perceive Army life as providing opportunities for career advancement, service to the country, and excitement and adventure, as well as comparing favorably with civilian life on spouse employment opportunities and quality of life for children. Once the effects of these dimensions of perceived quality of life in the Army are accounted for, more material job characteristics (such as pay, retirement benefits, and job security) affect the retention of young soldiers at lower performance levels but do not add to the retention of higher performers.

#### **Policy Recommendations**

Research on family factors in retention suggests that retention can be improved by certain policies, programs, and practices at various organizational levels. These are shown in Figures 3-2 and 3-3.

Further suggestions on how to accomplish some of these outcomes are contained in other chapters of this report. For example, Figure 3-3 recommends increasing spouse employment satisfaction. Suggestions for how to do this are found in the spouse employment section of Chapter 5 on "Family Adaptation to the Army."

### Figure 3-2. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers

- Create soldier perceptions that you care about families.
  - $\checkmark$  Be willing to listen when a soldier has a family problem.
  - $\checkmark$  Show a real interest in the welfare of families.
  - Allow soldiers time off for urgent family matters, such as medical care.
  - Allow soldiers time off for non-urgent family matters, such as family activities.
  - Provide unit activities that include families (and partners of single soldiers).
- Contribute to spouse employment satisfaction.
  - ✓ Inform soldiers and their spouses about spouse employment programs and what they provide.
  - $\checkmark$  Inform soldiers and their spouses about available child care.
- Contribute to satisfaction with support programs.
  - $\checkmark$  Provide support programs in the unit.
  - Inform soldiers and their spouses (and partners) about support programs (in the unit and elsewhere).
  - Encourage and facilitate use of programs.
- Contribute to spouse satisfaction with the Army and spouse (and partner) support for retention.
  - $\checkmark$  Communicate with spouses.
  - ✓ Provide avenues for spouses to communicate with you.
  - Act as an advocate, and information and referral source, for families.
- Contribute to soldiers' work rewards.
  - Provide opportunities for advancement.
  - Provide soldiers with satisfying work and opportunities to use their abilities.
  - Treat soldiers with respect.
  - Encourage soldier satisfaction with work rules and regulations.
    - Include solaiers in the development of rules.
    - Get feedback about attitudes toward rules.
    - Explain reasons for rules and regulations.
- Contribute to soldiers' sense of freedom and control over personal time.
  - ✓ Avoid call-backs.
  - ✓ Make work hours as predictable as possible.

### Figure 3-3. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers

- Ensure that supervisors at all levels are familiar with recommendations in Figure 3-2.
  - Include this information in training of all leaders (officers and NCOs).
- Be a model of the practices recommended in Figure 3-2 in your own leadership.
- Evaluate unit leaders and supervisors at least partly on the basis of their success in meeting soldier and family needs.
- Provide soldiers with work rewards.
  - ✓ Provide opportunities for career enhancement.
  - ✓ Ensure soldier job security.
  - ✓ Provide adequate pay.

1977年1971年19月1日には、1977年19月1日には、1977年19月1日に、1977年19月1日には

- ✓ Provide retirement benefits.
- Provide excellent quality of life programs.
  - ✓ Provide spouse employment programs.
  - ✓ Provide affordable and high-quality child care.
  - ✓ Provide community support programs.
  - ✓ Provide family support programs.
    - Provide relocation assistance.
    - Provide family separation support programs.
  - Get feedback from soldiers and families about needs for programs and satisfaction with programs.
  - Assure that soldiers and spouses are informed about programs.



日本の意味の書きないというないので、「「「」」

### **CHAPTER 4: ARMY FAMILIES AND MISSION READINESS**

# "Families have great impact on soldiers" readiness in various ways."

- How is individual readiness defined and measured?
- How is unit readiness defined and measured?
- What are the impacts of families and family issues on readiness?
- How does spouse employment affect readiness?
- How do leadership practices affect readiness?
- From the research, what do we know about how to foster readiness?

There are many ways to define and measure readiness. In general, readiness is the ability of the Army to carry out its missions. The Army's missions in the 1990s are changing and varied. Unit readiness is the ability of a unit to perform the tasks for which it is organized. Different units have different missions and different job specialties within a unit have different functions. Individual soldiers perform specialized jobs; the same soldier may even perform different tasks depending on the particular unit to which he/she is assigned. While readiness is commonly considered a unit dimension, we can also consider individuals to be "ready" to the extent that they are prepared to perform their jobs, especially during emergency situations. Thus, readiness is a multi-faceted and complex concept.

The relationship between family issues and readiness is one that many members of the Army community assume to exist. Interviews with installation leaders, service providers, and family members show that this belief is widespread.<sup>7</sup> Any Army commander can cite examples from his/her own experience of ways in which soldiers' families have fostered or hindered individual and unit readiness. However, this relationship has rarely been demonstrated empirically, especially in a quantitative way.

One consistent finding from years of experience and research is that a main cause for AWOL or desertion is soldiers leaving to deal with problems "back home" in their families or other personal relationships. (There is also evidence that family concerns increase psychiatric casualty rates.) Since AWOL and desertion rates are generally very low, this finding tells us little about the way in which most soldiers' readiness is affected by their families.

Research using qualitative methods, such as in-depth interviewing and observation has found that families have great impacts on soldiers' readiness in various ways.<sup>29</sup> For example, supportive relationships between soldiers and their spouses are factors in soldiers' presence for duty and deployments and contribute to their desires to do their best work. Deployed soldiers who believe that their spouses can manage in their absence and have support and assistance when they need it are able to concentrate on their mission; soldiers who are worried about their families do not perform up to their capability and are serious threats to unit performance and safety.
Qualitative research also shows that spouses' attitudes and abilities to manage are affected by the climate in the unit on a day-to-day basis. The way supervisors treat soldiers affects the way they behave toward their families; what soldiers tell their spouses about their lives at work affects spouses' attitudes toward the unit and the Army. Families are also affected by unit leaders' attitudes and behavior specifically regarding family issues and activities.

To test the generalizability of these effects using large-scale research methods requires quantitative measures of readiness. While the Army routinely evaluates units' abilities to perform their missions, there are no standard, conventional performance-based measures of readiness that apply to all units. Thus, in order to examine systematically and quantitatively the extent and nature of the impact of family factors on readiness, ARI's Army Family Research Program devoted effort to developing measures of readiness, and distinguished between individual readiness and unit readiness.

Our interest is how family issues affect readiness. There are aspects of both individual and unit readiness that cannot be affected by family issues. For example, a unit's ability to perform its mission is often affected by the quantity and quality of equipment available to the unit; this may be an important component of unit readiness, but it is unlikely to be affected by personnel at all, much less family issues. Similarly, an important dimension in individual readiness is the cognitive ability of the soldier, a variable that is unlikely to be affected by family factors. Thus, the emphasis in this chapter is on those aspects of readiness that have the potential for being affected by family issues or characteristics and examining the results of the research to see what effects are actually demonstrated. Also, we highlight those findings that have implications for policies and practices, especially where findings can be used as a basis on which to foster readiness.

#### Measures of Individual Readiness

The AFRP research included several types of measures of individual readiness that were analyzed to determine which combinations would measure what Army personnel consider most important, form reliable measures, and be applicable to as many categories of personnel as possible. The process of developing these measures included a review of the literature on military readiness and substantial input from field grade officers and senior NCOs. (A report is available that gives a thorough description of the measures of individual readiness used in the AFRP research.)<sup>48</sup>

The most reliable measure of individual readiness consisted of the average of the first- and second-level supervisory ratings on 12 behaviorally-anchored rating scales. Other measures collected were: the unit commander's rating of the soldier's job performance relative to other soldiers in the unit; soldier self-reports of objectively verifiable performance indicators such as Skill Qualification Test scores and number of awards received; soldier self-ratings of readiness on a series of scales; and soldier's average time within grade before promotion. There were no consistent relationships among the different measures of individual readiness, so the decision was made to use the supervisory ratings in the analysis of the impact of family factors.

The 12 individual readiness ratings (IRR) scales required the supervisor to rate each soldier on 7-point scales. Each scale had a title, a question, and three descriptions of behavior that would apply at different points on the scale (low end, middle, and high end). The title and question for each scale are shown in Figure 4-1.

	Figure 4-1. Individual Readiness Rating Items
•	COOPERATION/TEAMWORK/ESPRIT DE CORPS Hov. ready is each soldier to promote teamwork and esprit de corps?
•	EFFORT AND INITIATIVE How ready is each soldier to show extra effort and initiative?
•	GENERAL SOLDIERING SKILLS How ready is each soldier to perform general soldiering tasks?
•	INDIVIDUAL DEPLOYABILITY (ARMY TASK/MISSION) From an Army task/mission viewpoint, how ready is each soldier to be deployed?
0	INDIVIDUAL DEPLOYABILITY (PERSONAL/FAMILY) From the viewpoint of personal /family problems, how ready is each soldier to be deployed?
•	JOB DISCIPLINE How ready is each soldier to complete jobs in an orderly, timely and thorough manner?
•	JOB TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE/SKILLS How ready is each soldier in terms of specific job technical knowledge/skills?
•	PERFORMANCE UNDER PRESSURE AND ADVERSE CONDITIONS How ready is each soldier to perform effectively under pressure?
٠	CARE AND CONCERN FOR SUBORDINATES* How ready is each supervisor to show concern for subordinates?
9	CARE AND CONCERN FOR SUBORDINATES' FAMILIES* How ready is each supervisor to show concern for subordinates' families
	LEADERSHIP OF SUBORDINATES* How ready is each supervisor to provide unit leadership?
۲	MAINTAINING TRAINING STATUS OF SUBORDINATES* How ready is each supervisor to make sure subordinates are well trained
	*Last four items asked only about supervisors.

## Impacts of Families and Family Issues on Individual Readiness

The results of the systematic, large-scale, quantitative research conducted as part of the AFRP show quite powerfully and dramatically the ways in which family factors do and do not affect the individual readiness of soldiers as rated by their supervisors on the 12 ratings scales presented above.<sup>51</sup> The analysis uses multiple regression so that we are able to see the effects of each variable, even after the effects of other variables have been taken into account.

While many of the results are not surprising, it is important to have empirical verification of "what everyone knows". Further, there are some results that <u>are</u> surprising - and very important.

Figure 4-2 shows the model of the variables that have significant effects on the ratings of individual soldiers by their supervisors. (Variables are phrased to indicate which value is associated with high individual readiness.) As expected, several characteristics of soldiers had positive effects on their readiness: their rank (and variables related to rank), whether they had been selected for promotion to the next rank, and several measures that (in most cases) indicate aspects of personal responsibility (having a current driver's license, having transportation to the unit in an emergency, having enough money in the last 12 months to pay bills, not using budget counseling).

Also as expected, measures of soldiers' perceptions of aspects of the personnel climate in their units and the nature of their work lives affect their individual readiness. Typically, working at night has a negative effect on readiness ratings. The effect of morale is positive: high morale produces high individual readiness. (Part of this effect is indirect, operating through the impact of morale on commitment and satisfaction, which in turn affect readiness.) Ratings of individual readiness are higher for those soldiers who are more satisfied with their work (including the type



of work, opportunities to use their abilities, pay, retirement benefits, job security, treatment by supervisors, and opportunity to serve the country). Readiness is also affected by soldiers' self-reported motivation to be excellent soldiers (including excellence in exhibiting military bearing, leadership, and discipline and courage in battle).

Some individual characteristics that might be expected to bear a relationship to readiness do not add sufficiently to variation in readiness to remain in the model. These include gender, racial minority status, age, and years of service.

Some family characteristics show strong relationships to individual readiness ratings when these are examined in the absence of other information, but these effects disappear after accounting for the effects of rank and other individual characteristics. For example, the following variables are positively related to readiness: being currently married, number of dependent children, and spouse support of Army service and career. These variables are also positively related to rank and do not remain in the model of individual readiness once rank and the other individual characteristics noted above are controlled.

However, there are family characteristics that continue to affect individual readiness even after accounting for the effects of personal and job-related factors. Of these, the ones that refer to Army policies, programs, and practices (shown in the ellipse in the center of the figure) are: the soldier's perception of the degree to which his/her supervisor shows support for soldiers' families and whether the soldier's spouse has used employment referrals. Both of these variables positively affect individual readiness. The policy recommendations derived from these findings are shown in Figures 4-3 and 4-4.

#### Measures of Unit Readiness

A composite measure of unit readiness was developed by AFRP researchers from several different kinds of measures and consisted of a weighted average of 61 separate measures.<sup>49</sup> This composite incorporated the judgments of experienced Army officers and NCOs, as well as the results of statistical analysis on the many measures collected. Composite unit readiness scores were obtained for 507 units. Included in the composite were the ratings of the unit's readiness by four groups of personnel (junior enlisted soldiers in the unit, NCOs in the unit, officers in the unit, and other officers outside the unit) on 12 dimensions (accounting for 48 measurements), ratings of the unit on 10 unit-status dimensions, and the averages of the individual readiness ratings of three groups of unit personnel (junior enlisted personnel, NCOs, and officers) (Figure 4-5).

#### Impacts of Families and Family Issues on Unit Readiness

A large number of variables were analyzed for their ability to affect the readiness of the unit.<sup>(50)</sup> All variables were measured at the unit level. For those variables initially measured at the individual level (e.g., on the survey), the mean of all of the respondents from the unit was computed.

The model of unit readiness is shown in Figure 4-6. Some results are not surprising. For example, combat units have higher scores on unit readiness than other units. This may indicate that readiness is given a greater emphasis in combat units.

Contrary to what might be expected to be a negative effect of personnel with children, the average number of dependent children that unit personnel have is <u>positively</u> related to unit

# Figure 4-3. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness

- Be willing to listen when a soldier has a family problem.
- Show a real interest in the welfare of families.
- Allow soldiers time off for family matters, both urgent (such as medical care) and non-urgent (such as family activities).
- Inform soldiers and their spouses about spouse employment programs, especially employment referrals.
- Encourage soldier financial responsibility.
  - Provide preventive personal budget training (such as arranging for Army Community Services sessions for unit personnel).

## Figure 4-4. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness

- Ensure that all supervisors are familiar with recommendations in Figure 4-3.
  - Include this information in training of all leaders (officers and NCOs).
- Be a model of the practices recommended in Figure 4-3 in your own leadership.
- Evaluate unit leaders and supervisors at least partly on the basis of their success in meeting soldier and family needs.
- Provide spouse employment programs, including employment referral.
- Decrease soidier debt.
  - ✓ Increase pay and benefits.
  - Provide preventive personal budget training and make it accessible to soldiers.

# Figure 4-5. Measures of Unit Readiness

- Unit Readiness Ratings
  - ✓ Cohesion and Teamwork
  - ✓ Meeting Standards
  - ✓ Supplies, Materials and Equipment
  - ✓ Care and Concern for Families
  - Care and Concern for Soldiers
  - ✓ Leadership
  - ✓ Mission Performance
  - Personnel Capabilities for Mission Accomplishment
  - ✓ Personnel Deployability
  - ✓ Training Program
  - ✓ Unit Weapons
  - ✓ Vehicles/Transportation (including Aircraft and Armor)
- Unit Status Summary
  - ✓ Average personnel available past six months
  - ✓ Number of deployment/readiness exercises
  - Number of external general inspections
  - ✓ Average personnel MOS-trained in past six months
  - Average personnel turnover past six months
  - ✓ Average equipment mission-capable past six months
  - ✓ Average proficiency past six months
  - Results of last external general inspection
  - ✓ Participation in Field Training Exercises
  - ✓ Participation in Command Post Exercises
- Average Individual Readiness Ratings
  - Privates, privates first class, and corporals
  - ✓ NCOs in the unit
  - ✓ Officers in the unit



**readiness.** This may be partly a function of career status, which was not included in the analysis. (While rank is in the model, it is measured on one scale that includes both enlisted personnel and officers). But this finding is evidence that having personnel with children does not decrease readiness.

Both the proportion of personnel married to a military spouse and the proportion renting housing off post are negatively related to unit readiness. (Both of these variables may be a function of the proportion of enlisted personnel in the unit. The proportion of soldiers who are members of dual military couples is higher in support units, which are not seen as being as "ready" as combat units. It is <u>not</u> that soldiers with military spouses are rated lower by supervisors, since this does not affect individual readiness ratings.)

One measure of individual responsibility, the average number of months that unit personnel had unpaid bills, has a strong negative effect on unit readiness. Also negatively related to unit readiness is the proportion of unit personnel who used sponsorship assistance for their last move; the reason for this relationship is unclear (but may be a function of recency of move). On the other hand, the larger the proportion of unit personnel who are working at a second job the higher the unit's readiness.

The average rank of the soldiers in the unit has a positive effect on unit readiness, but it is not a direct effect; rather, it operates primarily through its effect on several variables that directly affect readiness.

These latter variables are especially important, and they include several that are related to families and that are amenable to change via policies and programs. The variable with the

strongest impact on unit readiness is soldier perceptions of the amount of support the unit leaders give soldiers and their families. (The impact is both direct and indirect - through such variables as family and soldier satisfaction). Having a family support group also has a positive direct effect on unit readiness, as does having activities for family members and supervisors allowing time off from work for non-urgent family matters.

The average work satisfaction of soldiers in the unit and their spouses' overall satisfaction also have strong direct effects on readiness. Several other variables positively affect unit readiness indirectly through their effects on work satisfaction and spouse satisfaction; these are lack of work stress (for married soldiers), the degree of perceived Army/family fit, the adjustment of the family to relocation, other measures of family strength and adaptation, and lack of alienation.

The policy recommendations that can be derived from the research results are shown in Figures 4-7 and 4-8.

An interesting twist appears in these results and the recommendations they imply. This AFRP research shows that soldier perceptions of supervisors' support for families in the form of allowing time off from work for family matters is associated with higher individual and unit readiness. Other research on the relationship between family variables and readiness has used loss of time from work as an indication of lower readiness - and has found different family variables to be associated with this measure.<sup>13</sup> Another important result of that research is that absence from a no-notice alert is much less likely to be due to family reasons than to not being contacted.

Supervisors should show their support for soldiers and their families. One way they can do this is allowing time off for personal and family matters when possible - and as long as soldiers are doing their jobs. However, to ensure readiness to deploy, leaders should make it clear in advance that soldiers with families will be expected to deploy with their units, especially during mobilizations. And leaders should be sure that soldiers are contacted for alerts.

Commanders can also enhance individual and unit readiness by informing soldiers and their spouses about programs, including employment referral services. (Other programs, including those at the unit level, that contribute to soldier and spouse satisfaction and family adaptation to the Army are discussed in Chapters 5 and 6.)

Thus, the results of recent research clearly demonstrate that there are actions affecting soldiers and their families that can be taken at different organizational levels to improve readiness.

## Figure 4-7. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Unit Readiness

- Demonstrate that you support your personnel and their families.
- Have a unit family support group.
- Provide activities in your unit for families.
- Allow soldiers time off for family matters even when not urgent.
- Find ways to increase your soldiers' satisfaction with their work.
- Do everything you can to increase the satisfaction with Army life felt by the spouses of soldiers in your unit.
- Encourage soldier financial responsibility.

## Figure 4-8. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: Policies to Increase Unit Readiness

- Provide housing on post for those who desire it.
- Work to ensure adequate availability.
- Support unit leaders in their efforts to support families (by having a family support group, providing activities for families, allowing soldiers time off for family matters).
- Include in evaluations of supervisors the extent to which their subordinates perceive support for themselves and their families.
- Decrease soldier debt.
  - ✓ Provide preventive budget counseling.
  - ✓ Increase pay and benefits.



12.14

0.100

01-T-10-14-

「「「「「「」」」」

# **CHAPTER 5: FAMILY ADAPTATION TO THE ARMY**

"The ability of the family to adapt to the military way of life is related to the degree that the military provides formal and informal support to the family."

- Why should the military be concerned with family adaptation?
- What is considered good family adaptation to the Army?
- What accommodations must the Army make to assure that families adapt to the stresses of deployments like Operations Desert Shield/Storm?
- Is there a relationship between family adaptation to the Army and spouse labor force participation?
- Who are the vulnerable populations?
- What is the relationship between family adaptation and relocation?
- What is the relationship between family adaptation and separation?

The military is a unique organization. The soldier and the family are exposed to "a new way of life" and expectations that may be foreign to them. In addition, many Army families are young and still adjusting to the experience of being a family. The Army and the family are "greedy institutions."<sup>60</sup> Both make heavy demands on the soldier. In the past, the Army focused its research primarily on individual soldier adjustment, good performance, and retention. To what extent does the Army have an obligation to help families adapt to military life?

Family adaptation is a relatively new concept<sup>9,36</sup> and is an outgrowth of changing systems of relationships between work and family roles generally and in the Armed Forces in particular.<sup>61</sup> There have been several variations in the definition.<sup>56</sup> It has been defined as an outcome of the level of fit between families and systems in their environment.<sup>36</sup> However, there are indications that families may be adapting functionally to military demands but not necessarily agreeing that adaptation is in their personal or family's best interest.<sup>36,42</sup> As a consequence of these observations, family adaptation can be viewed as a combination of the family's ability to adapt to work demands from the Army and the ability to maintain satisfaction by meeting their own internal needs.<sup>56</sup>

## Family Adaptation Measures

Significant contributions have been made in recent years with respect to the conceptualization and construction of Army family adaptation measures and models.<sup>8,10,31</sup>

Researchers have developed and demonstrated statistical support for a model of the relationships between Army family conditions, family strengths, and family adaptation<sup>42</sup> Their analysis confirms the theoretical and empirical distinctiveness of the concepts family strengths and family adaptation, producing two scales. The family strengths scale indicates a family's ability to cope with demands; the family adaption scale indicates the family's adjustment to organizational demands. Each of these scales indicate high levels of internal reliability. These measures are used in AFRP analyses to trace how family factors influence family adaptation and how adaptation, in turn, influences soldier readiness and retention.<sup>6</sup>

AFRP scientists note that this research is limited by the fact that 9 out of 10 service members in the sample are men and that the study lacks a spouse or joint family measure of family strength and adaptation. The strength of the research is that the data are from a large probability sample of military service members.

#### Why is Family Adaptation Important to the Army?

There are at least three major reasons why the Army should be concerned with family adaptation. First, if family adaptation to the military is positive, the soldier should perform responsively to his or her job requirements, and experience higher job morale. There is also an impact on retention.<sup>16,20</sup> Second, service providers need to anticipate problems associated with poor family adaptation and develop programs that target these problems and build family strengths. Third, it costs less in money, commanders' time, and human misery to foster family adaptation than to have to deal with family problems after they occur.

## What Affects Family Adaptation?

ある。 本の時には、 のため、 のため

The ability of the family to adapt to the military way of life is related to the degree that the military provides formal and informal support to the family (as well as to family adaptive resources such as flexibility and spouse education). Army spouses' level of satisfaction with the military as a way of life is positively related to their perception of the service's support for families and help with family problems. This association holds for spouses of enlisted members and officers, whether or not there are children in the household, but is particularly pronounced for officers' spouses with children. This suggests that the level of satisfaction with the military as a way of life felt by officers' spouses with children may be especially affected by military policies and practices that are supportive of family life.<sup>9</sup>

Social support by friends, neighbors, work associates, and Army unit are important factors predicting family adaptation to work organization demands. Additionally, several demographic and family factors are associated with adaptation. In general, the older and more experienced 'he individual or family, the more positive the adaptation is likely to be. Important measures are years of service, pay grade, age, and years of marriage.<sup>25</sup>

Research shows that spouse satisfaction with the Army as a way of life varies with the soldier's career, family life course, and other factors. In 1987, 60% of Army spouses were satisfied with the Army as a way of life, 25% were neutral, and 15% were dissatisfied. Spouses of officers were more likely to be satisfied (72%) than were those married to enlisted personnel (57%).<sup>25</sup>

More recent research finds that male single custodial parents are more stressed than either female single parents, dual military couples, or married couples with civilian spouses. Women in all categories report fewer problems than do men.<sup>12</sup>

Research conducted to examine the role of leadership in creating a supportive environment finds that *v* eciprocal relationship is expected and viewed as desirable. Families want leaders to reduce family stress, and leaders want families to contribute to the mission.<sup>7</sup>

One way of looking at family adaptation is to consider what has been identified as families' primary concerns. Families are most concerned about those aspects of Army life which affect their ability to function on a day to day basis. Specific issues of concern include medical care,

housing, child care, work hours, moves, and separations. Exploratory research finds that Army leaders and service providers believe that those experiencing the most difficulty adjusting to Army life include: young, junior enlisted soldiers with families; families with financial and marital problems; families that lack the experience and maturity to cope with their situation; newly married couples who are far away from family and other support systems; and families that have just arrived on post.<sup>36,62</sup>

Frequent relocations, separation, and assignment to an undesired duty station create a variety of stressors that result in impaired family functioning.<sup>69</sup> There are unique features of Army life to which families must adapt.<sup>60,61</sup> Among them are relocation, family separation, danger, and the institutional nature of the Army. Each is worth examining.

<u>Relocation</u> One of the attractions of military life for many young people has been the opportunity for travel and to live in places they might otherwise never visit. Travel in the military often means relocating. For the married soldier this may include the family as well. Army families are much more likely to relocate than are civilian families and, indeed, they relocate more than any other branch of the military.<sup>30</sup>

One-half of all military members move every 2 years -- and many move more frequently.<sup>40</sup> The 1985 DoD Survey found that Army spouses with 2-4 years of marriage in service reported a median 1.9 family moves. Officer families reported slightly more moves.<sup>30</sup> The scope and cost of organizational relocations are much more extensive in the military than in the civilian sector for the Army, unlike the civilian sector, moves entire families.

Recent research has focused on relocation stress. Several studies find a correlation between the stress of relocation and family adaptation to the Army.<sup>56</sup> Over 10% of enlisted soldiers in the 1985 DoD survey reported that they felt their spouse had serious problems adjusting to relocation.<sup>(69)</sup> In 1987, researchers reported that at least 15% of families experienced severe problems.<sup>18</sup> AFRP researchers found 27% having slight problems and another 26% having serious problems because of relocation.<sup>17</sup> A 1979 DoD survey found that 10% of enlisted personnel and 5% of officers cited relocation problems among the most important reasons for leaving the Army.<sup>69</sup> Among the most common problems associated with relocation are spouse unemployment, finance, and housing.

The percent of military spouses in the labor force has increased significantly in the past 20 years. In 1972, approximately 27% of military wives were in the labor force. Currently, labor force participation is in the 60% - 70% range, with approximately 50% of spouses employed, and the remaining 10% - 20% looking for jobs.<sup>55</sup> Spouse unemployment is higher in the military than in the civilian sector.

**Relocation is one of the major factors for spouse unemployment.** For some military spouses, frequent "orders" result in their inability to participate fully in the labor force. Military personnel change stations every 2 or 3 years. When military wives are compared with civilian wives, it has been found that they are disadvantaged by length of time on station and by geographic location. The length of time Army households are stationed at the same location is the most statistically significant factor of all of the work outcomes examined, since the longer one is at the same location, the more likely one is to have sought and located a job. Thus, moving has a negative impact on labor force participation at a given point in time.

A change in location in the previous 5 years is found to be a statistically significant and negative predictor of spouse labor force participation.<sup>59</sup> This is especially true for full-time employment, and for the extent to which spouses' skills will be utilized fully. It would follow that career-oriented spouses have even greater difficulty in securing satisfactory employment. Military wives may drop out of the labor market because they are discouraged or because they relocate or because employers are reluctant to hire what may be a temporary employee.<sup>57</sup>

During a given year, labor force participation rates and employment rates are driven by the amount of time a spouse has been at the same location, and by the location of assignments. Wives in households closer to population centers are more likely to be employed than unemployed.<sup>57</sup> Some researchers have noted that the needs of unemployed male civilian spouses require attention.<sup>12</sup>

Frequent moving takes a financial toll on the family. With each move there is an outlay of the soldier's personal finances that is seldom recouped. In the 1989 AFRP survey, the problem of unreimbursed costs of moving is cited by over 43% of the soldiers as a serious problem.<sup>17</sup> More than one-half of the married soldiers with children reported problems with moving, setting up a household, and relocation costs.

Housing ranks among the major stressors for military personnel and their families. Among respondents to the 1987 survey of Army spouses who have made a permanent change of station move, almost half have experienced a delay of at least 3 months before being able to move into permanent housing, and 31% of enlisted soldiers' families report waiting 7 months or more.<sup>25</sup> Families generally feel that housing in Europe is often inadequate. In the 1989 AFRP survey, finding permanent housing quickly is cited by 31% of the soldiers as a problem. They report waiting 5 months or longer.<sup>17</sup>

Research shows that there is a strong link between experience with relocation and adaptation to Army life in general. A secondary analysis of the "1000 Army Families" data collected in 1983 shows that congruency of expectations and actual experiences about life in Europe is a significant predictor of a family's adaptation to Europe.<sup>8</sup> Family adaptation is highest where actual experiences (housing, jobs, schools) are as expected or better.

There is a significant relationship between relocation problems experienced and overall family adaptation to the Army.<sup>17</sup> The more problems experienced in relocation, the poorer the family's overall adaptation to the Army (Figure 5.1). Those who have few relocation problems tend to be more highly adapted. (Note that even those whose relocation problems are medium are less likely to have high overall adaptation scores than those with few relocation difficulties.)

The Army has taken actions which have had a positive impact on family adjustment. Among them is the sponsorship program where a designated military member or family is assigned to welcome and provide assistance to a family that is relocating and being assigned to the unit. Another significant change is the fact that commanders are now beginning to allow soldiers time off of the job to re-settle their families after a move.<sup>29</sup> Research has identified this time as crucial to families' adjustment following relocation.

<u>Family Separation</u> Separation from the family is a fact of life for Army personnel. Separations may be as short as an overnight field exercise to a major exercise lasting several weeks; from military courses lasting a few days (short courses) to unaccompanied tours lasting a year or



longer. Separations may be voluntary or involuntary (unaccompanied tours). Involuntary separations are usually the result of a decision that accompanied tours are not economically feasible or that conditions mitigate against family living in the area of the assignment. There are several reasons for voluntary separations, among them being a desire for stability in children's schooling and/or the spouse's career. Long-term separations, voluntary or involuntary, are experienced at a higher rate by enlisted families than by officers.<sup>16</sup>

Approximately 90% of married male soldiers who were residing with their spouses were away from home at least one night during a 6-month period (Figure 5-2), and more than one-half (58%) were gone for two weeks or more.<sup>16</sup>

There appear to be six general areas of stress that affect wives during peacetime separations: physical illness and pregnancy; affective conditions (depression, anger, loneliness, tension/ irritability, emotional aspects of sex); marital adjustment; practical aspects of maintaining car and home; having to assume sole responsibility for family life and a dual role as parent(s) with respect to children; and making adjustments upon the husband's return. <sup>56</sup> The 1989 AFRP survey finds that 41% of families have at leastb moderate trouble with their children during separations.<sup>16</sup> (Little research has been conducted on how the husbands of female soldiers have fared while their wives are deployed.)

Anxiety over separation is greater in the lower ranks than in the higher ranks. This is true for both soldier and spouse.<sup>16</sup> Researchers have found a significant relationship between family adaptation and separation for all married soldiers. Results show that soldier/family separations have a negative impact on families' ability to adapt to Army life.<sup>16</sup>



Financial problems also result from separations, especially when they are due to unanticipated deployments, as evidenced during Operations Desert Shield/Storm.<sup>3,15</sup> Interviews revealed such problems as increased expenses, inexperience at budgeting, loss of income, and delays in receiving Army pay. Loss of income and delays in receiving Army pay was a major problem for the families of reservists who had been working on commission or were self-employed, when activated. An area of specific concern was telephone credit card bills, especially for those soldiers who were making long distant calls to their families from the Middle East.<sup>67</sup> Other costs noted early in the deployment included the purchase of military gear, storage of personal effects, and added childcare costs. An unanticipated problem was the loss of income from spouse jobs. Many spouses in Europe experienced problems that seemed to be caused by the economic downturn of local areas because the deployed troops were major consumers. In addition, spouses delayed major purchases because they did not know what to plan for.

Adaptation to Danger\_ Deployment of soldiers into a hostile environment places enormous demands on a family's coping ability. More than one-fourth (29%) of Army spouses say that the possibility their soldier may be involved in combat is a serious problem for them. This is a greater problem for junior officers and lower ranking enlisted personnel.<sup>25</sup>

The stress is exacerbated if a dangerous deployment is actually made. Research indicates that the vast majority of spouses of soldiers deployed to the Persian Gulf for Operations Desert Shield/Storm (90%) believed that they were coping about average or above with their normal daily household tasks. There was a similar finding for those employed outside of the home.

Despite these indications of high-level functioning, a significant number of spouses reported that they were emotionally distressed by factors related to their deployed soldier. Spouses reported being greatly distressed by such conditions as missing their spouse (68%), problems communicating with their spouse (27%), spouse's living condition in the Persian Gulf (54%), concerns for the spouse's safety and well-being (72%), and the uncertainty of the deployment (66%). The combined impact of these factors on spouses as measured by the Hopkins Symptoms Checklist was the feeling of diminished emotional well-being.<sup>70</sup>

Spouse distress over the soldier's well-being and safety, the spouse's inability to predict how long the operation would last, and spouse concern over the soldier's living conditions have been identified as stressors in other research.<sup>2,32,46,63,66</sup> Likewise, difficulties getting reliable information and financial difficulties pose significant problems for some families of deployed soldiers.<sup>63,66</sup> Other research finds relatively few spouses with financial problems.<sup>3</sup>

Various kinds of information play a role in the ability of Army spouses to adapt to combat deployments of their loved ones. Spouses of soldiers deployed to Grenada wanted to know the location of their soldier, whether he made a combat/night jump, how she could communicate with him, and when he would return.<sup>32</sup>

Interviews during Operations Desert Shield/Storm revealed that spouses needed accurate information about the deployed soldier's situation, information on how to cope with daily living during the deployment, and reliable information directly from the deployed soldier.<sup>3,15</sup> They also wanted regular, accurate, and timely information about available services. Spouses frequently received distortions in the news media, rumors, and Army information that appeared out-of-date.<sup>3</sup> The control of rumors was a constant challenge. In addition, accurate information and the rumor control climate at each post affected both spouse and soldier perceptions of the fragility or stability of their marriages during and after the deployment separation.<sup>63</sup> Forty-seven percent of the spouses in the survey accompanying the October 1990 interviews listed communication with the deployed soldier-spouse as at least a moderate problem.<sup>15</sup>

<u>Support Systems</u> As a result of experiences during real-world, small-scale deployments in the 1980s, the Army instituted Family Support Groups (FSG) and the Rear Detachment Commands (RDC). The rear detachment commander is usually a commissioned officer especially designated to provide information and assistance to the families of deployed soldiers. Both the FSGs and RDCs have proven to be key elements in providing information and social support to separated families, and they have been quite effective during several deployments for peacekeeping duty in the Sinai.<sup>32,65,68</sup> Indeed, it was the experience of the first Sinai mission that led to the recommendation that such support systems be provided.

The effectiveness of FSGs in helping families adapt appears to vary as a result of certain conditions of their environment and functioning. Although spouse attendance at FSG meetings varies and low turnout causes concern among FSG leaders, surveys focusing on these groups have generally reported positive results. Perceptions of the FSG leaders' ability also vary and there are indications of burnout. Wives often assume leadership positions because of their husband's rank or position instead of their own ability or interest. The other problem has been that a dearth of volunteers results in many FSG leaders becoming overburdened.<sup>5,64</sup>

The coordination and collaboration between unit RDCs and FSGs had positive synergistic effects on spouse adaptation to deployment for Operations Desert Shield and Desert Storm.

Those spouses who felt well-informed by the RDCs and FSGs experienced fewer stressful events during deployment separation.<sup>63</sup>

A well-prepared Army support system promotes positive coping responses, minimizes maternal and child psychological troubles, and maximizes soldier deployability and cohesion in the combat zone. In contrast, in units with inadequate RDCs and FSGs, spouse well-being was no better than in units lacking any unit-level supports.<sup>63</sup>

An effective support system must have the support of command. Unit leadership and a caring climate for families within the unit chain of command have been found to be a crucial precursor of family well-being in both qualitative and survey results.<sup>63</sup>

There are also indications that effectiveness is greatest when the FSGs provide a mechanism for the development of **informal** supports among families; they are less effective (and even have negative effects on family attitudes and well-being) when they are perceived as run by commanders and their spouses and serving the interests of commanders rather than soldiers and their families.<sup>61,63,68</sup> Indeed, the transformation of informal networks of support called "family support groups" to more formally organized "FSGs" may have lessened their ability to provide affective support to family members trying to cope with stressful circumstances.<sup>61</sup>

FSGs in the reserves required more Army support during deployments than had been afforded them.<sup>3,46,64</sup> Offices needed to be set up in the local Armory and funds for mailing newsletters were required. There was also a need to expand FSG membership to others besides the spouse and children who had close relationships with the service members such as fiances, parents, godparents, and close friends. Throughout the country, civilian organizations such as churches formed support groups that <u>did</u> open their membership to other than immediate family members.

The Army as an Institution Research examining the demands placed on soldiers and families identifies several family stressors that are significant to families' ability to adapt to the military. One such stressor is work unpredictability.<sup>11,22,62,64</sup> As soldiers progress in rank and assume more responsibilities, their hours of work become longer and less predictable; family plans often must be changed. Families whose members are assigned to "field" units are particularly vulnerable. Those soldiers who frequently participate in Field Training Exercises and deployments have longer workdays, and are more frequently called back after the workday is completed.

It is important to distinguish between two types of work demands - long hours of work and unpredictable work (e.g., having to cancel leave or personal plans, or being called back for extra details).<sup>22</sup> It is the latter that may be perceived as unreasonable, and has consistently negative effects on a number of soldier outcomes.<sup>13,22</sup> In particular, having to cancel leave or personal/family plans because of work has negative effects on soldiers' sense of rewards from their Army work, their comparisons between Army and civilian work, the work stress they experience, their satisfaction with the Army as a way of life, and their feelings about the Army.

As soldiers remain in the Army and achieve, they are more able to tolerate these family disruptions. Married soldiers generally report higher levels of satisfaction with the Army, and greater levels of work rewards, than those who are not married. They report greater work stress, however.

Long work hours do not seem to lead to a lower sense of Army work rewards, lower satisfaction with Army life, or less positive feelings about the Army. The relationship of unit type and

location to soldier work rewards and related outcomes shows generally positive outcomes for soldiers in combat support units, with combat and TDA units tending to fall in between.<sup>22</sup>

Both unit leadership support for families and unit morale consistently show a strong positive relationship to key soldier outcomes, including sense of work rewards and satisfaction with the Army as a way of life.<sup>22</sup> The negative effects associated with military service, such as the length and unpredictability of the Army workday, are sometimes offset by positive perceptions that the Army and its leaders are genuinely concerned about soldiers and their families.<sup>7</sup>

## Family Adaptation and Policy Recommendations

Figure 5-3 shows a model of some of the findings concerning family adaptation to the Army. Various recommendations for policies, programs, and practices can be derived from the research. The most important are shown in Figures 5-4 and 5-5. Note that these recommendations are quite consistent with those proposed in earlier chapters concerning retention and readiness.



## Figure 5-4: For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army

- Establish a warm climate for families.
- Minimize the requirement for soldiers to return to work after the duty day.
- Encourage family support groups and provide full support.
  - ✓ Emphasize positive support for voluntary participation.
  - ✓ Avoid hierarchical organization.
  - ✓ Encourage volunteers regardless of rank.
  - Provide instrumental support (such as information, phone numbers when needed).
- Inform soldiers and spouses about family programs (including spouse employment and child care).
- Institute formal and informal support mechanisms to reduce the stress of separations.
  - Provide pre-deployment programs for soldiers and spouses (and other close family and friends).
  - ✓ Develop supportive and trained rear detachment commands.
  - ✓ Use rear detachment commands and family support groups to keep spouses informed.
- Institute formal and informal support mechanisms to promote adaptation to relocation.
  - ✓ Provide sponsorship service to newly arriving soldiers.
  - $\checkmark$  Allow newly arriving soldiers time off to get settled.
  - Provide information to soldiers and their families about the location and family services available.
- Provide formal and informal support to special target groups.
  - ✓ Assure support to young families.
  - ✓ Facilitate support for male single parents.

## Figure 5-5. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army

- Train leaders at all levels on how to be supportive of families (see figure 5-4).
- Develop and maintain policies, programs, and practices to reduce the stress of separation.
  - ✓ Minimize family separation.
  - Develop, maintain, and encourage pre-deployment programs for families.
  - ✓ Provide and train rear detachment commanders.
  - ✓ Provide childcare services.
- Develop and maintain policies, programs, and practices to reduce the stress of relocation.
  - $\checkmark$  Minimize relocation.

- $\checkmark$  Expand relocation services to soldiers and spouses.
- $\checkmark$  Enhance sponsorship programs.
- Emphasize community support programs that enhance spouse employment opportunities.
- $\checkmark$  Provide childcare services.
- Provide support to families of Reserve and National Guard units.
- Target policies and support programs to young families.
- Target policies and support programs for male single parents.
- Undertake research to examine issues for civilian husbands of women soldiers.

# **CHAPTER 6: COMMUNITY SUPPORT PROGRAMS**

# "...The availability of Army community support services is essential to the well-being of the Army community."

- Which community support programs are used most frequently by soldiers and spouses?
- Which programs and services do soldiers and spouses perceive as most useful for the Army to provide?
- What are soldier and spouse perceptions of the quality of Army programs and services?
- What are the relationships between use of community support programs and family adaptation and retention?

## Background

In the early days of the U.S. Army, support services were limited to those families who marched with the Armies and provided support such as cooking, carrying water, and mending clothes.<sup>4</sup> In later years, the military expanded support services to include all military families. During World War II, the United Services Organization (USO) and the American National Red Cross provided social services to soldiers and their families, while the Army Emergency Relief Agency (AER) provided financial assistance.<sup>6</sup>

Since World War II, the Army's demographics have changed. There has been an increase in the number of Army enlisted personnel who are married as well as an increase in women, single parents, dual military couples, and employed civilian spouses of Army soldiers.<sup>55</sup> These changing family patterns dictated changes in Army support programs. Consequently, The Army Community Service (ACS) was established in 1965.<sup>4</sup> In 1968, the Army established the Youth Activities program.<sup>19</sup> In 1983, following a series of grass roots symposia, the Army Chief of Staff issued a white paper titled "The Army Family," which outlined the philosophy and goals of Army family policy.<sup>71</sup>

In 1984, "The Year of the Family," the Army established the Community and Family Support Center (CFSC), which brought together most "quality of life" and family support programs. Included were the Morale, Welfare, and Recreation (MWR) programs that provide recreational activities to personnel and families, child development services, Army Community Service, "family advocacy" (family violence prevention and treatment), financial planning, spouse employment services, youth and education, and the Exceptional Family Member Program.

#### Types of Programs and Services and Their Use

Today, a large array of support, both "formal" and "informal," is available for soldiers and their families. Formal support systems include concrete services such as schools, leadership systems, utility services, fire and police protection, community mental health, and other community services. "Informal" support systems usually refer to personal relationships such as family members, friends, neighbors, co-workers, and voluntary associations such as civic clubs or churches. These informal support groups are essential for good family functioning. When

individual, family, and community needs are met, the community can be considered as "strong."<sup>41</sup> In a strong community, leaders are perceived to allow community participation in the leaders' decision making process.<sup>41</sup>

Military family support systems play a major role in the life of the soldier and the family.<sup>21,41</sup> The expansiveness of the modern Army's community support is exemplified by the RAND survey, which included more than 65 support programs.<sup>13</sup> Although the military provides many support services for families, the perceived value of services is uneven.<sup>69</sup>

Community support services can be dichotomized into (1) "General Services," designed to be available to and used by all members of the Army community such as libraries and housing locator services, and (2) "Targeted Services," designed to be used by specific groups or by those with specific needs and emergencies such as counseling services.<sup>69</sup> The main difference between the two services is the universality of the underlying needs that drive service use. Targeted Services are expected to have lower use rates.

Utilization rates and associated issues differ between General and Targeted programs.<sup>19,69</sup> Studies have shown that General Services are used proportionately more often by officers than enlisted soldiers and that proportionately more enlisted personnel than officers use intervention programs.

Data were obtained from the AFRP survey question, which asked -- for a list of 39 Army community support programs -- "How useful is it (or would it be) to provide the following programs and services at your current location?" Respondents were also asked "...have (you) ever used these services and programs at your current location?" Generally, soldiers and spouses reported that financial and emergency services were useful for the Army to provide. Emergency food was perceived as most useful by soldiers (62.7%) and spouses (75.8%) followed by emergency loans (61.4% soldiers and 71.3% spouses) and crisis hot lines (60.3% soldiers and 74.3% spouses). One-fifth of Army spouses reported a belief that use of community services could hurt the soldier's career.<sup>19</sup>

そのためにはなる。 そのためにはないです。 ためためにはないです。 たのためにはないです。 たのでです。 たのです。 たのでです。 たのででする。 たのでです。 たのででするでです。 たのでです。 たのででです。 たのでですでです。 たのでです。 たのででですでです。 たのでですですでです。 たのでですでです。 たのでででするででででです。 たのでででででです。 たでででででででです。 たでででででででです。 たでででででででです。 たでででででで

Awareness and use of programs is uneven and those at greatest risk for experiencing family problems, junior enlisted families, are least likely to be aware of the plethora of support services available to them. The services of which most families (at least 60% of wives) are likely to be aware are information and referral services, family advocacy, crisis intervention, and financial counseling programs. More use information and referral and financial counseling services than use other ACS programs.<sup>25</sup>

Some researchers advance the notion that "Targeted Services" may carry with it the implications of personal or family problems and may therefore be stigmatized. This line of thinking has been used to explain the difference in utilization rates. However, it fails to recognize that once a target audience is defined there are a host of variables associated with service use. Examples are location, cost, awareness, and the potential impact on one's career. For example, although research on marital enrichment, family clusters, and parent education programs are sparse and much has yet to be done, what is known is that satisfaction among participants in the marital enrichment program is high although participation in that program is low. It is believed that there is a general lack of awareness by families of the existence of such a program on the post.<sup>41</sup> On the other hand, active duty personnel and their families are participating in marriage and family counseling and therapy and the levels of satisfaction with this program are quite high. In research on one Army post, over one-half of families surveyed were aware that marriage and

family counseling services were available at their post.<sup>38</sup> About 8% of the families had received this type of counseling at the time of the survey. Army-wide, 52% percent of those who had participated in the marriage and family counseling felt satisfied with the results.<sup>23</sup>

In examining use rates, it is also important to recognize that not all families are potential users of each service. Further, if all potential users actually desired the service, they could not all be accommodated.

## Program Use. Assessments of Program Usefulness, and Positive Outcomes

Program use is positively related to the perception of program usefulness.<sup>19</sup> Generally, the quality of Army family programs and the helpfulness of Army agency staff are highly rated by soldiers and spouses. Soldiers who use family programs report higher perceptions of leader support for families than soldiers who do not use the programs.

Utilization by single soldiers Single soldiers, irrespective of their relational status (independent, involved, or committed), found support services a valuable source of support at their current locations.<sup>37</sup> Approximately two-fifths to two-thirds of single soldiers rated the services as "very useful". Several services appeared particularly attractive to males and females in committed relationships: crisis hot lines (65% and 72%, respectively), emergency loan services (66% and 72%, respectively), and emergency long distance phone calls (69% and 72%, respectively). Although nearly one-half or more single soldiers felt that the services examined were "very useful," it did not mean that they had utilized the services. In fact, irrespective of their relationship status, less than 10% of single soldiers had used relocation counseling, crisis hot line, emergency long distance phone calls, and/or pre-marriage counseling. However, a higher proportion of single soldiers (approximately one in five) had used community services (i.e., the directory of community services and information and referral services). Emergency loan services were rated as "very useful" by single soldiers in less serious and committed relationships.

Housing and medical care The availability and quality of housing and medical care is critical for the soldier and his family's adaptation to the Army.<sup>62</sup> Housing and health services contribute substantially to the military benefits package, although housing does not have the "halo" that is accorded to medical care.<sup>69</sup> While Army family housing and troop housing is moderately correlated with career intention among enlisted personnel, housing is not a significant predictor of overall satisfaction for officers.<sup>69</sup> Other research finds that although almost half of enlisted and officers' spouses rate the availability of military housing as at least fair, many more (64% of enlisted wives, 75% of officers' wives) think that civilian housing is much more available.<sup>23</sup>

Several studies look at the perceptions of medical care in the Army as reported by the consumers.<sup>54</sup> Most studies find medical care rated as at least moderate. Some of the major issues concern availability, waiting time in the hospital/clinics, and physician-patient interaction.

Morale. welfare and recreation services (MWR) The Army provides a variety of recreational services under its MWR program. Included are indoor gym activities, bowling, outdoor athletic and recreation activities, arts and crafts, music and theater, library, clubs, and youth activities. The MWR programs are fairly widely known and used by many military personnel. However,

use is sporadic, and civilian services are often preferred.<sup>14</sup> The effects of these services on readiness and retention are unknown.

Employment services Army spouse employment programs have a significant positive effect on spouse labor force participation.<sup>(59)</sup> Army spouses who have a spouse employment program available on post appear more likely to be in the labor force than those who do not. This does not necessarily mean, however, that they are employed. There is still an unmet demand from Army spouses for help in identifying job opportunities, preparing resumes, and getting job referrals.<sup>25,59</sup> (For a detailed discussion of spouse employment and its relationship to family adaptation to the Army, see Chapter 5.) <u>Financial services</u> Approaches to the delivery of financial counseling services are usually education and individual counseling. Three of four soldiers, and two of three spouses, reported awareness of this service in the 1985 DoD survey.<sup>23</sup> However, there is a lack of controlled research on people who have received financial counseling and on the impact of such services on participants' decisions or behavior.<sup>39</sup> Data on the effectiveness of financial counseling services to individuals or families are largely anecdotal.

<u>Parent education classes</u> Two of the most popular parent education programs are Parent Effectiveness Training (PET) and Systematic Training for Effective Parenting (STEP). In the Army, however, these programs may suffer from lack of widespread participation.<sup>39</sup>

<u>Child Care</u>: Another critical community support activity is child development services. This is a valuable service to employed parents. High-quality child care can contribute to mission readiness. Parents concerned about child care miss more days, arrive late and leave early more often and take off more time during the day.<sup>69</sup> A 1984 Army survey found that more than 61,000 enlisted and 10,000 officer families lost job or duty time or missed an Army-sponsored activity because of difficulty finding child care.<sup>28</sup> Other research found that over a 4- week period, over 10% of a sample of first-term soldiers were absent from duty because of a need to provide home or family care.<sup>52</sup> The importance of child care increases as soldiers with children increase in numbers.<sup>44,54</sup>

The findings on satisfaction with child care are mixed. For example in 1985, the worldwide survey of Army spouses indicated that 66% of the mothers were satisfied with the quality of care and only 19% were dissatisfied.<sup>23</sup> This finding is in contrast to the 1984 survey of MWR programs<sup>14</sup> which did not select for marital or parenting status, and found that satisfaction with Army child care was quite low. Less than one-half of the users reported being very satisfied or satisfied with Army childcare services. In both investigations, however, the lowest levels of satisfaction were expressed with regard to quality of staff and education programs, hours of operation, and capacity of centers.<sup>69</sup> In a study examining the employment status of women, it was noted that childcare services on post appear to have "a moderately positive effect on spouse attitudes toward the military."<sup>58</sup>

<u>Schools</u> Although overseas, Department of Defense Dependent Schools (DoDDS) ranked as the ninth largest public school system. Satisfaction with DoD schools is mixed. Officers evaluate

the schools more negatively than do spouses of enlisted personnel.<sup>25,30</sup> An earlier survey of parents and children in DoDDS found that parents fault DoDDS for inadequate funding and overcrowding, but do not regard drugs or discipline as problems. The level of satisfaction is higher among parents of elementary children and those living in the Pacific or Panama, and is lower among those with high school children, and those living in Germany.<sup>1</sup>

<u>Relocation</u> There is a need for relocation services on Army posts because relocation and separation in the military is a fact of life (see Chapter 5). Relocation services in the military generally lag behind those of the corporate sector. Military personnel and spouses tend to give mixed reviews of the relocation services that are provided them. One study of Army families revealed that fewer than 10 % of the spouses participated in an orientation program.<sup>38</sup> The major problems are that the programs are not well known among family members, that spouses are not strongly encouraged to participate, and that orientation programs are often limited in their assistance to working spouses.

In another study, it was found that although most soldiers and spouses did not use or have available to them many potentially useful relocation services, they generally used the honsing location referral services that were available. For all of the relocation assistance services listed in the survey, the overwhelming majority of soldiers and spouses reported that the services were useful for the Army to provide. The largest proportion of soldiers reported that housing location referral (61%) and sponsorship assistance (58%) were very useful, while only 44% reported that relocation counseling was very useful. Almost one-half of the soldiers (47%), and more than one-half of the spouses (53%), reported that they used housing location referrals. About one-fourth of the soldiers and spouses reported that they used sponsorship and community orientation. More than one-third of the spouses (34%) reported that they used spouse career planning, spouse employment skills training, relocation counseling, or budget counseling (though these data do not account for the availability of these programs). Receiving pre- and post-move information appears to reduce significantly the likelihood of experiencing relocation problems.<sup>17</sup>

<u>Separation services</u> It is clear that families undergoing separations believe it is useful for the Army to provide separation-related services to them while their soldier spouse is away, although it is less certain what types of services are required.<sup>16</sup>

<u>Crisis hot-lines and shelters</u> These are two programs that are not well known by families on post and for which there are few data on effectiveness. In the 1985 DoD Survey, fewer than one-third of the respondents indicated awareness of crisis referral services (hot lines included), and fewer than half of those who had used them (46%) were satisfied with the results. Only 31% of the wives of enlisted Army personnel and 20% of the officer's wives were aware of the existence of shelters. Of those who had used these shelters, approximately 50% felt satisfied with their experience.<sup>23,39</sup>

<u>Support services during deployment</u> During Operation Desert Shield/Storm, two of the most effective community supports for families of deployed spouses were the Family Support Group (FSG) and the Rear Detachment Command.<sup>5,64,46,67</sup> Other community support activities

recognized as "unsung heroes" were the professionals and volunteers who staffed the Family Assistance Centers (FAC). Among the agencies represented in the FACs were the Army Community Service, the Red Cross, the Adjutant General, The Inspector General, the Chief of Chaplains, the Directorate of Engineering and Housing, the CHAMPUS Office and the Finance Office.<sup>5</sup>

Community Support, Family Adaptation, and Soldier Retention: There is an association between general program use and family adaptation. Soldiers who make use of programs have higher perceptions of leader support for families than those who do not. A relationship also exists between use of general and targeted programs and retention plans. These findings suggest that family support services and programs are an important vehicle for integrating families into the military environment. However, more research is needed to explore the findings of this preliminary analysis in depth.<sup>19</sup> Soldiers and spouses alike believe that the availability of Army community support services is essential to the well-being of the Army community.<sup>22,62</sup> In another study it was found that single-male-parent households are significantly less likely to feel connected to social and community support systems than other families.<sup>12</sup> The quality of life in military communities, as perceived by soldiers themselves, is an important factor in explaining the differential retention plans of enlisted personnel.<sup>24</sup>

## Conclusions and Policy Recommendations

The extensive military-owned-and-operated family support programs had lead some researchers to refer to the military community as a "company town," and recommend major modifications in the future. They suggest that the 1990s will witness substantial restraints on the nation's defense budget; rather than increasing on-base programs and facilities, the military should provide only those that cannot be offered by the civilian sector.<sup>33</sup> Recommendations such as these should be considered seriously but cautiously as downsizing gains momentum. It is clear that the need for family support services will not diminish in proportion to planned reductions in the force, and it is also clear that more must be done to increase soldiers' and families' awareness of support programs. Awareness of programs, even when they are not used, increases satisfaction with military life and enhances retention.<sup>20</sup>

Figures 6-1 and 6-2 show recommendations for policies, programs, and practices that appear most likely to increase soldier and family satisfaction with community support, and lead to the positive outcomes of felt support, such as family adaptation, readiness, and retention.

## Figure 6-1. For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Community Support

- Assure troop awareness of support services on post.
  - ✓ Reach out to junior enlisted families.
- Encourage troops to seek help if needed from support services on post.
- Assure troops and families get pre- and post-movement briefings.
- Provide support and encouragement for family support groups and rear detachment commander.
- Encourage the development of informal support networks among soldiers' spouses.
  - ✓ Provide family activities in the unit.

## Figure 6-2. For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Community Support

- Launch major efforts to help families become aware of the support services available on Army posts.
- Provide effective mechanisms for community participation.
- Provide strong relocation and referral information services.
- Emphasize the importance of rear detachment commands and family support groups.
- Support family member employment assistance programs.
- Provide support for child development services.



# **CHAPTER 7: CONTINUING ISSUES**

The research efforts of the 1980s and early 1990s have substantially increased our systematic knowledge about Army families. While there are many questions that remain unanswered, much is now known about the demographic characteristics of Army families, how families affect retention of service members and the readiness of soldiers and their units, what constitutes family adaptation to the Army and what fosters or hinders it, and the role of formal and informal community support in Army family life.

The recent transformation in the international security situation is changing the Army in ways that have important implications for families. Although research results on the impacts of these changes are not yet available, the results of research discussed in this report can be used to identify and analyze the issues.

As a result of the diminished threat to the U.S. following the collapse of the U.S.S.R. and the Warsaw Pact, the military is ir. the process of downsizing. At the same time, military missions are changing rapidly and becoming more diverse. During the 1990s, and into the 21st century, the Army will be called on to perform missions involving peacekeeping, humanitarian aid, and drug interdiction, in addition to being prepared to fight limited wars all over the world. The optimism following the transformation in Eastern Europe was shattered by the war in the Persian Gulf.

The Army will have to perform more varied missions with fewer people. Rather than having a massive force stationed overseas with smaller rapid deployment units stationed in the United States, this downsized Army will be more stabilized in the United States, but a greater proportion of personnel will need to be rapidly deployable. All of this has important implications for personnel retention, readiness, and the organizational demands to which service members and their families must adapt.

Greater mission variability and complexity with a smaller force makes it even more important that the Army retain the most able soldiers. It is a mistake to think that downsizing means that the organization need not attend to the satisfaction of service members and their families. If soldiers and their families are not treated well by their leaders, the organization will lose the very personnel it wants most to keep. Further, research on organizational downsizing demonstrates the importance of organizational efforts to ensure the well-being of "survivors," those who are not forcibly separated. In addition, the organization must provide substitute rewards to counteract the loss of job security, which many soldiers and their spouses have viewed as a major advantage of Army life over civilian employment.

How will the new situation for the Army affect conditions that this report has identified as important for retention, readiness, and family adaptation? A great deal depends on Army policies developed to respond to the situation. Current discussions indicate that it is likely that there will be less frequent PCS relocation of service members and their families and fewer long accompanied tours overseas. At the same time, there may be more frequent separations as service members are sent away from their families for deployment on missions, for unaccompanied tours overseas, and for military training.

The negative effects on family adaptation of relocation described in Chapter 5 will be reduced for many families. For example, we are likely to see a drop in rates of spouse unemployment and underemployment, although this will vary by location as a function of the local economy. It may also make each relocation more disruptive to the spouse's career, especially for those occupations where longer time in one location fosters advancement. Greater geographic stability is also likely to foste, integration into the community, and the development of informal support networks which raise family life satisfaction, and tend to buffer the effects of stress.

The potential for more frequent family separations raises the importance of attention to how separation affects family functioning and the policies, programs, and practices that can help to alleviate the negative effects (Chapter 5). Since greater family separation is likely to be necessitated by missions, separation for other reasons should be kept as short and as infrequent as possible, and attempts should be made to give service members as much control over the timing as possible. Further, attention should be paid to the recommendations throughout this report that specify the policies, programs, and practices that make families feel supported and that help them adapt.

One family issue that was not addressed in this report but that is likely to take on increasing importance in the future is the need for eldercare. While military personnel tend to be young, and therefore less likely to have to care for their parents, the longer that people stay in the Army, the more likely it is that this issue will affect them. Senior military personnel will be the ones with the greatest likelihood of having financial and custodial responsibility for elderly parents. These Army leaders have a very high level of work responsibility; they may need organizational support to help them balance the combined pressures of work and family roles.

Given current demographic and cultural trends, Army personnel in the future are likely to represent the diversity of the U.S. population. That means Army families will include more racial and ethnic minorities, and more service women (some with civilian husbands). Research and policy attention will need to address the similarities and differences among these sub-populations to determine whether policies, programs, and practices developed for families in the past serve their needs equally well.

The research results highlighted in this report and the policies, programs, and practices derived from them do not represent all that is known about Army families. We encourage all readers to learn more about particular findings and areas of research by reading works cited here. We also encourage you to update your knowledge by reading and applying future research reports as they become available. We hope that the conceptual frameworks and findings reported here provide a foundation on which to build further knowledge and policy.

# REFERENCES

1. Bartell, T., O'Mara, F. & Hooke, L. (1983). <u>Report on future factors affecting the</u> <u>Department of Defense Dependent Schools</u>. Reston, Virginia: Advance Technology, Inc.

2. Bell, D. B. (1990). <u>The Army Family Research Program: An overview</u>. Paper presented at the Military Family Research Review, Andrews Air Force Base, MD.

3. Bell, D. B. (1991). <u>The impact of Operation Desert Shield/Storm on Army families: A summary of findings to date</u>. Paper presented at the 53rd annual conference of the National Council of Family Relations, Denver, CO.

4. Bell, D. B., & Iadeluca, R. B. (1987). <u>The origins of volunteer support for Army family programs</u>. (Research Report 1456) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A190-587)

5. Bell, D. B. & Quigley, B. (1991). <u>Family factors in Operations Desert Shield and Desert</u> <u>Storm</u>. Presented at the American Psychological Association convention, San Francisco, CA.

6. Bell, D. B., Scarville, J., & Quigley, B. (1991). <u>The Army Family Research Program:</u> <u>Origin, purpose, and accomplishments</u>. (Research Note 91-44). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A238-729)

7. Blankinship, D. (1990). <u>The role of installation leaders in creating a supportive family environment</u>, (Research Report 1558). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A223-799)

8. Bowen, G. L. (1989a). <u>Family adaptation to relocation: An empirical analysis of family</u> stressors, adaptive resources, and sense of coherence (Technical Report 856). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. AD A212-805)

9. Bowen, G. L. (1989b). <u>The relationship of family satisfaction to satisfaction with the</u> <u>military way of way of life among soldiers among soldiers</u> (Technical Report 864). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A219-901)

 Bowen, G. L. (1990). <u>The family adaptation model: A life course perspective</u> (Technical Report 880). U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A221-058) 11. Bowen, G. L., & Neenan, P. (1989). Organizational attitude toward families and satisfaction with the military as a way of life: Perceptions of civilian spouses of U.S. Army members. Family Perspective, 23, 3-13.

12. Bowen, G. L., Orthner, D. K., Zimmerman, L. I., & Meehan, T. (1992). <u>Family patterns and adaptation in the U.S. Army</u>. (Technical Report 965) Alexandria, VA: U. S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A259-880)

13. Burnam, M. A., Meredith, L. S., Sherbourne, C. D., Valdez, R. B., & Vernez, G. (1992). <u>Army families and soldier readiness</u>. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.

14. CFSC. (1985). Morale, welfare, recreation (MWR): World-wide survey analysis. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center.

15. CFSC. (1,91). <u>Family factors in Operation Desert Shield: Phase I report</u>. (Unpublished manuscript). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center.

16. Coolbaugh, K. & Rosenthal, A. (1992). <u>Family separations in the Army</u>. (Technical Report 964) Alexandria, VA: U. S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A258-274)

17. Croan, G. M., LeVine, C. T., & Blankinship, D. A. (1991). Family adjustment to relocation. (Technical Report 968) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A259-392)

18. Devine, P., Bishop, S., & Perrine, H. (1987). <u>Assessment of Army action plans: Final report</u>. Alexandria, VA: U.S. Anny Community and Family Support Center.

19. Devine, P., Bullman, S., & Gaston, M. (1992). <u>Army community support programs: Needs</u> and access among <u>Army families</u>. (Technical Keport 965) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A258-719)

20. Etheridge, Rose M. (1989). <u>Family factors affecting retention</u>; A review of the literature (Research Report 1511). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A210-506)

21. Gottlieb, B. H. (1983). Social Support Strategies: Guidelines for Mental Health Practices. Beverly Hills: Sage.

22. Griffith, J. D. & Helms, R.F. (1993). <u>Unit demands on soldiers and families</u>. (Technical Report 985) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

23. Griffith, J. D., LaVange, L. M., Gabel, T. J., Doering, Z. D., & Mahoney, B. S. (1986). Description of spouses of officers enlisted personnel in the U.S armed forces: 1985. Supplementary tabulations from the 1985 DoD surveys of officers & enlisted personnel and military spouses, (Vol. 1). Arlington, Va: Defense Manpower Data Center.

24. Griffith, J. D., Rakeff, S., and Helms, R. F. (1993). <u>Report on family and other impacts on retention</u>. (Technical Report 986) Alexandria, VA: U. S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

25. Griffith, J. D., Stewart, L. S., & Cato, E. D. (1988). <u>Annual survey of Army families: A</u> report on Army spouses and families in 1987 (Vols. 1-3). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center.

26. Hogan, P. F. (1990). <u>Family annualized cost of leaving (ACOL)</u>: The household as the decision unit in military retention (Technical Report 890). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A224-394)

27. Iannacchione, V.G., & Milne, J.G. (1991). <u>Sampling weights for the Army Family Research</u> <u>Program (AFRP) core research effort</u> (Technical Report 942). Alexandria, VA: U. S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A246-292)

28. Jones, A. P., & Butler, M. C. (1980). A role transition approach to the stresses of organizationally induced family role disruption. Journal of Marriage and the Family, 367-376.

29. Kirkland, F. R., & Katz, P. (1989). Combat readiness and the Army family. <u>Military</u> <u>Review</u>, <u>69</u>, 64-74.

30. LaVange, L. M., McCalla, M.E., Gabel, T.J., Rakoff, S.H., Doering, Z.D., & Mahoney, B.S. (1986). Description of officers and enlisted personnel in the U.S. armed forces: 1985; Supplementary tabulations from the 1985 DoD surveys of officers and enlisted personnel (Vols. 1-3). Arlington, VA: Defense Manpower Data Center.

31. Lavee, Y., McCubbin, H. I., & Patterson, J. M. (1985). The double ABCX model of family stress and adaptation: An empirical test by analysis of structural equations with latent variables. Journal of Marriage and Family, 47, 811-825.

32. Lewis, C. S (1984). <u>A supportive network structure for waiting wives</u>, Washington D.C: Walter Reed Army Institute of Research.

33. Martin, J. A., & Orthner, D. K. (1989). "The 'company town' in transition: Rebuilding military communities". Pp. 163-177 in G. A. Bowen & D. K. Orthner (Eds.), <u>The organization family: Work and family linkages in the U.S. military</u>. New York: Praeger.

34. Moghadam, L. Z. (1989) <u>The reciprocal nature of work and family: Perception of the work/family interface and its impact on Army reenlistment behavior</u>. Unpublished Ph.D. dissertation, University of Maryland.

35. Orthner, D. K. (1990). <u>Family impacts on the retention of military personnel</u> (Research Report 1556). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A225-084)

36. Orthner, D. K., & Bowen, G. L. (1990). <u>Family adaptation in the military</u> (Research Report 1559). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A225-085)

37. Orthner, D. K., Bowen, G. L., Zimmmerman., L. I., & Short, K. A., (1993). <u>Young single</u> soldiers and relationships. (Technical Report 987) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

38. Orthner, D. K., Brody, G., Hill, W., Pais, J., Orthner, B., & Covi, R. (1985). <u>Families in green at Ft. Benning</u>. Washington, DC: Department of the Army.

39. Orthner, D. K., Early-Adams, P, & Pollock, D. (1990). <u>Community support programs:</u> <u>Review of the literature</u> (Research Note 90-125). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A227-550)

40. Orthner, D. K., Giddings, M. M., & Quinn, W. H. (1987). <u>Youth in transition: A study of adolescents from Air Force and civilian families</u>. Washington, DC: Department of the Air Force.

41. Orthner, D. K., Pollock, D., Early-Adams, P., Devall, E., Giddings, M. & Morley, R. (1990). <u>Building strong Army communities</u> (Research Note 90-110). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A227-866)

42. Orthner, D.K., Zimmerman, L.I., Bowen, G.L., Gaddy, G., & Bell, D.B. (1991). Development of a measure of family adaptation to the Army (Technical Report 925). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A240-842)

43. Pittman, J. F., & Orthner, D. K. (1989). Gender difference in the prediction of job commitment. Pp. 227-248 in Goldsmith, E., ed., <u>Work and Family: Theory, Research, and Applications</u>. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

44. Rakoff, S. H., & Doherty, J. H. (1989). <u>Army family composition and retention</u> (Research Report 1525). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A212-880)

45. Rakoff, S. H., Griffith, J. D., & Zarkin, G. A. (1993). <u>Models of soldier retention</u>. (Technical Report 988) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

46. Rosen, L. N. (1991). <u>Human factors in Operation Desert Shield: The role of family factors</u>. Paper presented at the Operation Desert Shield Task Force Meeting, Washington, DC.

47. Rosen, L. N., Moghadam, L. Z., & Vaitkus, M. A. (1989). The military family's influence on soldiers' personal morale: A path analytic model. <u>Military Psychology</u>, 1, 201-213.

48. Sadacca, R. & DiFazio, A. (1991a). <u>Analysis of army family research program measures of individual readiness</u> (Technical Report 932). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A241-271)

49. Sadacca, R. & DiFazio, A. (1993). <u>Analysis of army family research program measures of unit readiness</u> (Technical Report 989). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

50. Sadacca, R., McCloy, R.A., & DiFazio, A.S. (1992). <u>Preliminary analysis of the impact of army and family factors on unit readiness</u>. (HumRRO Draft Report.) Alexandria, VA: Human Resources Research Organization.

51. Sadacca, R., Stawarski, C. & DiFazio, A. (1993). <u>Preliminary analysis of the impact of army and family factors on individual readiness</u> (Technical Report 967). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A259-200)

52. Savell, J. M., Rigby, C. K., & Zbikowski, A. A. (1982). <u>An investigation of lost time and utilization in a sample of first-term male female soldiers</u> (Technical Report 607). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A139-803)

53. Scarville, J. (1990). <u>Spouse employment in the Army: Research findings</u> (Research Report 1555). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A222-135)

54. Schumm, W. R., Bell, D. B., & Tran, G. (1993a). <u>Army community support programs and Army families: A review of findings</u>. (RR 1644) Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)
55. Schumm, W. R., Bell, D. B., & Tran, G. (1993b). <u>The demography of Army families: A</u> review of findings (Research Report 1645). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

56. Schumm, W. R., Bell, D. B., & Tran, G. (1993c). <u>Family adaptation to the demands of</u> <u>Army life: A review of findings</u> (Research Report 1642). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (In Preparation)

57. Schwartz, J. B. (1990). <u>Labor force participation. employment, and earnings of married</u> women: <u>A comparison of military and civilian wives</u> (Research Note 90-67). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A226-270)

58. Schwartz, J. B., Griffith, J. D., & Wood, L. (1990). <u>The employment status of Army</u> <u>spouses</u> (Research Note 90-61). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A226-880)

59. Schwartz, J. B., Wood, L., & Griffith, J. (1991). The impact of military life on spouse fabor force outcomes. <u>Armed Forces and Society</u>, <u>17</u>, 385-407. (AD A226-270)

60. Segal, M. W. (1986a). The military and the family as greedy institutions. <u>The Armed</u> Forces & Society, 13, 9-38.

61. Segal, M.W. (1989). "The nature of work and family linkages: A theoretical perspective". Pp. 3-36 in G. A. Bowen & D. K. Orthner (Eds.), <u>The organization family: Work and family linkages in the U.S. military</u>. New York: Praeger.

62. Styles, M. B., Janofsky, B. J., Blankinship, D., & Bishop, S. (1990). <u>Investigating family</u> adaptation to Army life: Exploratory site visit findings (Research Note 90-15). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A219-968)

63. Teitelbaum, J. M. (Ed.). (1991a). <u>Family factors in Operation Desert Shield: Phase I report</u>. (Unpublished manuscript). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Community and Family Support Center.

64. Teitelbaum, J. M. (1991b). <u>Unit level spouse support and generic family assistance at major army posts during Operation Desert Shield/Storm</u>. Unpublished paper presented to the Inter-University Seminar on Armed Forces and Society, Biennial International Conference, Baltimore, Maryland.

65. Teitelbaum, J. M., Wood, S., & Gravino, K. (1989). Adjustment and adaptation of enlisted family members to separation during long term unit deployment. In Schneider, R.J. & Teitelbaum, J.M. (Eds.) <u>Research progress report to the Community and Family Support Center</u>. Washington, DC: Department of Military Psychiatry, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research.

66. USAREUR, ODCSPER. (1991). <u>USAREUR personal opinion survey 1991: General</u> <u>findings report, vol. 1 (Family) (USAREUR PAMPHLET 600-2.</u> Heidelberg: Headquarters, U.S. Army, Europe.

67. Vaitkus, M. & Johnson, M. (1991). <u>USAREUR Family Support Research: Operation</u> <u>Desert Storm</u>. Paper presented at the U.S. Army Walter Reed Institute of Research Professional Seminar, Forest Glen, Md.

68. Van Vranken, E. W., Jellen, L. K., Knudson, K. H. M., Marlowe, D. H., & Segal, M. W. (1984). <u>The impact of deployment separation on Army families</u> (Report WRAIR NP-84-6). Washington, DC: Department of Military Psychiatry, Walter Reed Army Institute of Research.

69. Vernez, G. & Zellman, G.L. (1987). Families and mission: A review of the effects of family factors on Army attrition, retention, and readiness. Santa Monica, CA: The RAND Corporation.

70. Westhuis, D. J., Rosen, L. H., & Teitelbaum, J. M. (1991). <u>Army families in CONUS: The impact of Desert Shield and Storm</u>. Unpublished paper presented to the Inter-University Seminar on Armed Forces and Society, Biennial International Conference, Baltimore, Maryland.

71. Wickham, J. A., Jr. (1983). <u>Chief of Staff white paper 1983: The Army family</u>. Washington, DC: Department of the Army.

72. Wood, L. (1990). <u>Family economics and the retention intentions of Army enlisted</u> <u>personnel</u> (Research Note 90-68). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioral and Social Sciences. (AD A226-448)

# Appendix

The Figures From the Text Are Reproduced Here So That They Can Be Used As Viewgraphs By Readers Who May Find Them Useful



## Army-Family System Model

- 小学校の日本を見ていたいというないのでは、いたないないない



# Percentage of Enlisted Personnel Married: Various Data Sources, 1952-1991



# Percentage of Officers Married: Various Data Sources, 1952-1991



,

# Percentage of Army Personnel Married by Gender and Pay Grade



# Percentage of Soldiers in Dual Military Marriages

and a set of the second second of the second of the second s

and the second second

#### For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: Policies, Programs, and Practices Related to Soldier Demographics

- Do not treat soldiers primarily according to their demographic characteristics.
  - ✓ Respond to soldiers' needs, resources and behaviors.
- Provide support for soldiers in their family transitions.
  - Recognize that single soldiers have personal relationships (girlfriends, boyfriends) that affect them.
  - ✓ Recognize that single parenthood is often a temporary status.
  - Provide reasonable accommodation during stressful family transitions (marriage, parenthood, separation, divorce, bereavement).
  - Provide unit programs and activities for soldiers in various family stages.
  - ✓ Know about on-post and off-post support services and programs.
  - Refer soldiers to appropriate support sources and programs (such as pre-marriage counseling, support groups for single parents, financial counseling, etc.).



AUG \$3

U

#### For Installation Commanders and DA Policy Makers: How to Develop Policies, Programs, and Practices Related to Soldier Demographics

- Train leaders at all levels on family demographics and their implications.
- Avoid policies that treat soldiers primarily according to their demographic characteristics.
  - ✓ Develop policies and programs that respond to soldiers' needs, resources, and behaviors.
- Provide support services for soldiers regardless of marital and parental status.
  - See other chapters of this report for specific service recommendations.
- Provide support services and accommodations to help with family transitions (marriage, parenthood, separation, divorce, and bereavement).

AUG 93

## **Model of Retention**



#### For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers

- Create soldier perceptions that you care about families.
  - $\checkmark$  Be willing to listen when a soldier has a family problem.
  - $\checkmark$  Show a real interest in the welfare of families.
  - Allow soldiers time off for urgent family matters, such as medical care.
  - Allow soldiers time off for non-urgent family matters, such as family activities.
  - Provide unit activities that include families (and partners of single soldiers).
- Contribute to spouse employment satisfaction.
  - ✓ Inform soldiers and their spouses about spouse employment programs and what they provide.
  - ✓ Inform soldiers and their spouses about available child care.
- Contribute to satisfaction with support programs.
  - ✓ Provide support programs in the unit.
  - Inform soldiers and their spouses (and partners) about support programs (in the unit and elsewhere).
  - Encourage and facilitate use of programs.
- Contribute to spouse satisfaction with the Army and spouse (and partner) support for retention.
  - Communicate with spouses.
  - Provide avenues for spouses to communicate with you.
  - Act as an advocate, and information and referral source, for families.
- Contribute to soldiers' work rewards.
  - ✓ Provide opportunities for advancement.
  - Provide soldiers with satisfying work and opportunities to use their abilities.
  - ✓ Treat soldiers with respect.
  - Encourage soldier satisfaction with work rules and regulations.
    - Include soldiers in the development of rules.
    - Get feedback about attitudes toward rules.
    - Explain reasons for rules and regulations.
- Contribute to soldiers' sense of freedom and control over personal time.
  - ✓ Avoid call-uacks.
  - ✓ Make work hours as predictable as possible.



AUG 93

#### For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Retention of Soldiers

- Ensure that supervisors at all levels are familiar with recommendations for supervisors and unit commanders.
  - Include this information in training of all leaders (officers and NCOs).
- Be a model of the practices recommended for supervisors and unit commanders in your own leadership.
- Evaluate unit leaders and supervisors at least partly on the basis of their success in meeting soldier and family needs.
- Provide soldiers with work rewards.
  - ✓ Provide opportunities for career enhancement.
  - ✓ Ensure soldier job security.
  - ✓ Provide adequate pay.

- ✓ Provide retirement benefits.
- Provide excellent quality of life programs.
  - Provide spouse employment programs.
  - ✓ Provide affordable and high-quality child care.
  - Provide community support programs.
  - ✓ Provide family support programs.
    - Provide relocation assistance.
    - Provide family separation support programs.
  - Get feedback from soldiers and families about needs for programs and satisfaction with programs.
  - ✓ Assure that soldiers and spouses are informed about programs.



#### **Individual Readiness Rating Items**

- COOPERATION/TEAMWORK/ESPRIT DE CORPS How ready is each soldier to promote teamwork and esprit de corps?
- EFFORT AND INITIATIVE How ready is each soldier to show extra effort and initiative?
- GENERAL SOLDIERING SKILLS How ready is each soldier to perform general soldiering tasks?
- INDIVIDUAL DEPLOYABILITY (ARMY TASK/MISSION) From an Army task/mission viewpoint, how ready is each soldier to be deployed?
- INDIVIDUAL DEPLOYABILITY (PERSONAL/FAMILY) From the viewpoint of personal /family problems, how ready is each soldier to be deployed?
- JOB DISCIPLINE How ready is each soldier to complete jobs in an orderly, timely and thorough manner?
- JOB TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE/SKILLS How ready is each soldier in terms of specific job technical knowledge/skills?
- PERFORMANCE UNDER PRESSURE AND ADVERSE CONDITIONS How ready is each soldier to perform effectively under pressure?
- CARE AND CONCERN FOR SUBORDINATES\*
  How ready is each supervisor to show concern for subordinates?
- CARE AND CONCERN FOR SUBORDINATES' FAMILIES\*
  How ready is each supervisor to show concern for subordinates' families?
- LEADERSHIP OF SUBORDINATES\* How ready is each supervisor to provide unit leadership?
- MAINTAINING TRAINING STATUS OF SUBORDINATES\*
  How ready is each supervisor to make sure subordinates are well trained?

\*Last four items asked only about supervisors.

AUG 93

# Model of Individual Readiness



76

.

#### For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness

- Be willing to listen when a soldier has a family problem.
- Show a real interest in the welfare of families.
- Allow soldiers time off for family matters, both urgent (such as medical care) and non-urgent (such as family activities).
- Inform soldiers and their spouses about spouse employment programs, especially employment referrals.
- Encourage soldier financial responsibility.
  - Provide preventive personal budget training (such as arranging for Army Community Services sessions for unit personnel).



#### For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Increase Soldiers' Readiness

- Ensure that all supervisors are familiar with recommendations for supersivors and unit commanders.
  - $\checkmark\,$  Include this information in training of all leaders (officers and NCOs).
- Be a model of the practices recommended for supervisors and unit commanders in your own leadership.
- Evaluate unit leaders and supervisors at least partly on the basis of their success in meeting soldier and family needs.
- Provide spouse employment programs, including employment referral.
- Decrease soldier debt.
  - ✓ Increase pay and benefits.
  - Provide preventive personal budget training and make it accessible to soldiers.

AUG 93

## **Measures of Unit Readiness**

- Unit Readiness Ratings
  - ✓ Cohesion and Teamwork
  - ✓ Meeting Standards
  - ✓ Supplies, Materials and Equipment
  - Care and Concern for Families
  - Care and Concern for Soldiers
  - ✓ Leadership
  - Mission Performance
  - Personnel Capabilities for Mission Accomplishment
  - Personnel Deployability
  - ✓ Training Program
  - ✓ Unit Weapons
  - Vehicles/Transportation (including Aircraft and Armor)
- Unit Status Summary
  - Average personnel available past six months
  - ✓ Number of deployment/readiness exercises
  - Number of external general inspections
  - ✓ Average personnel MOS-trained in past six months
  - Average personnel turnover past six months
  - ✓ Average equipment mission-capable past six months
  - ✓ Average proficiency past six months
  - Results of last external general inspection
  - ✓ Participation in Field Training Exercises
  - ✓ Participation in Command Post Exercises
- Average Individual Readiness Ratings
  - ✓ Privates, privates first class, and corporals
  - NCCs in the unit
  - ✓ Officers in the unit



AUG 93

## **Model of Unit Readiness**



## For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Unit Readiness

- Demonstrate that you support your personnel and their families.
- Have a unit family support group.

Teres 1

- Provide activities in your unit for families.
- Allow soldiers time off for family matters even when not urgent.
- Find ways to increase your soldiers' satisfaction with their work.
- Do everything you can to increase the satisfaction with Army life felt by the spouses of soldiers in your unit.
- Encourage soldier financial responsibility.



## For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: Policies to Increase Unit Readiness

- Provide housing on post for those who desire it.
- Work to ensure adequate availability.
- Support unit leaders in their efforts to support families (by having a family support group, providing activities for families, allowing soldiers time off for family matters).
- Include in evaluations of supervisors the extent to which their subordinates perceive support for themselves and their families.
- Decrease soldier debt.

AUG 9

- ✓ Provide preventive budget counseling.
- $\checkmark\,$  Increase pay and benefits.



# Relationship Between Relocation Problems and Family Adaptation









# **Model of Family Adaptation**

#### For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army

Establish a warm climate fcr families.

•

- Minimize the requirement for soldiers to return to work after the duty day.
- Encourage family support groups and provide full support.
  - Emphasize positive support for voluntary participation.
  - ✓ Avoid hierarchical organization.
  - ✓ Encourage volunteers regardless of rank.
  - Provide instrumental support (such as information, phone numbers when needed).
- Inform soldiers and spouses about family programs (including spouse employment and child care).
- Institute formal and informal support mechanisms to reduce the stress of separations.
  - Provide pre-deployment programs for soldiers and spouses (and other close family and friends).
  - ✓ Develop supportive and trained rear detachment commands.
  - Use rear detachment commands and family support groups to keep spouses informed.
- Institute formal and informal support mechanisms to promote adaptation to relocation.
  - ✓ Provide sponsorship service to newly arriving soldiers.
  - ✓ Allow newly arriving soldiers time off to get settled.
  - ✓ Provide information to soldiers and their families about the location and family services available.
- Provide formal and informal support to special target groups.
  - ✓ Assure support to young families.
  - ✓ Facilitate support for male single parents.



AUG 93

#### For Installation Commanders and DA Level Policy Makers: How to Facilitate Family Adaptation to the Army

- Train leaders at all levels on how to be supportive of families (see recommendations fo supervisors and unit commanders).
- Develop and maintain policies, programs, and practices to reduce the stress of separation.
  - $\checkmark$  Minimize family separation.
  - ✓ Develop, maintain, and encourage pre-deployment programs for families.
  - $\checkmark$  Provide and train rear detachment commanders.
  - $\checkmark$  Provide childcare services.
- Develop and maintain policies, programs, and practices to reduce the stress of relocation.
  - ✓ Minimize relocation.
  - $\checkmark$  Expand relocation services to soldiers and spouses.
  - $\checkmark$  Enhance sponsorship programs.
  - ✓ Emphasize community support programs that enhance spouse employment opportunities.
  - $\checkmark$  Provide childcare services.
- Provide support to families of Reserve and National Guard units.
- Target policies and support programs to young families.
- Target policies and support programs for male single parents.
- Undertake research to examine issues for civilian husbands of women soldiers.



AUG 93

#### For Supervisors and Unit Commanders: How to Increase Community Support

- Assure troop awareness of support services on post.
  - $\checkmark$  Reach out to junior enlisted families.
- Encourage troops to seek help if needed from support services on post.
- Assure troops and families get pre- and post-movement briefings.
- Provide support and encouragement for family support groups and rear detachment commander.
- Encourage the development of informal support networks among soldiers' spouses.
  - $\checkmark$  Provide family activities in the unit.



#### For Installation Commanders and DA Policy Makers: How to Increase Community Support

- Launch major efforts to help families become aware of the support services available on Army posts.
- Provide effective mechanisms for community participation.
- Provide strong relocation and referral information services.
- Emphasize the importance of rear detachment commands and family support groups.
- Support family member employment assistance programs.
- Provide support for child development services.



